
Children's Scrutiny Panel  
 

Dear Member, 
 

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Children's Scrutiny Panel to be held as 
follows for the transaction of the business indicated. 
Tom Stannard 

Chief Executive  

 
DATE: Wednesday, 14th September 2022 

 
TIME:  6.00 pm 

 
VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton, Salford,    

                      M27 5AW 

 
In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 

2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting.  

 
AGENDA 

 
1   Welcome and Apologies for Absence  

 

Chair – Councillor A Brocklehurst 

 

 

2   Declarations of Interest  

 

 

3   Minutes of the previous meeting held on Wednesday, 13th July 
2022  

 

(Pages 1 - 6) 

4   Salford Youth Justice Plan 2022-23  

 

Lee Matthews, Salford Youth Justice Service 
 

(Pages 7 - 58) 

5   Children's Services Revenue Monitoring 2022/23  
 

Alex Archer, Finance Manager, Salford City Council 
 

(Pages 59 - 64) 

6   CSP Work Programme 2022/23  

 

Chair – Councillor A Brocklehurst 

 

(Pages 65 - 66) 

7   Any Other business  

 

 

8   Date, time and business for next meeting  
 

Wednesday, 12th October, 6pm, Civic Centre, Salford Suite  
 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 2843 
Christine Wood, Democratic Services Officer E-Mail: christine.wood@salford.gov.uk 



Children’s Scrutiny Panel 13.07.22                                                                                                1 
 

Children’s Scrutiny Panel 

Wednesday, 13th July 2022 

Meeting commenced: 6.30pm 

Meeting ended: 8.25pm 
 

Present:  

 
 

Councillors:   Councillor Adrian Brocklehurst (Chair) 

Joshua Brooks, Adam Kealey, Lewis Nelson, Michael Pevitt, Teresa Pepper, Neil 

Reynolds, Madeline Wade.  
 

Co-opted Members:  Judith Elderkin, Jacqui Morrissey 

 

Church of England Diocesan Representative: Reverend Keith Archer 

Representative from the Jewish Faith: Alex Klein 

 

Parent Governor: Zoe Brown 

 

Officer/s Present: 

Christine Wood – Democratic Services (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

Officers(online): 

 

Victoria Ross – Children’s Services 

Samantha Wells – The Lowry Academy 

Members of the public: 

None 

1. Welcome and Apologies for Absence 

Everyone was welcomed to the meeting and apologies were received from Charlotte 

Ramsden, Becky Bibby, Debbie Blackburn, Zoe Fearon, Cathy Starbuck and Councillor 

Madelaine Wade.   

2. Declarations of interest 

There were no declarations of interest.  

3. Minutes of the previous meeting held on Wednesday, 8thJune 2022 
 

Resolved:  That, the minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday, 8th June 2022  be 

approved as a true and correct record subject to the following amendments: 
 

6b. Membership 

 A Labour Party vacancy: to fill the place left vacant by former Councillor John Walsh to 

be amended to Councillor Joan Walsh. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Children’s Scrutiny Panel 13.07.22                                                                                                2 
 

 Councillor Nelson advised that currently there were two vacancies in addition to those 

referred to in the previous minutes - Roman Catholic Diocesan representative and Free 

Churches representative. 

4. Matters arising from the minutes 

There were no matters arising. 

5. Transition between Primary School and Secondary School in Salford – July 2022 

 Victoria Ross introduced the report reminding the panel that the Salford 
Primary/Secondary Transition Policy had been first published in 2018 and had been 
updated in January 2020 following meeting with primary and secondary leaders.   

 

 The policy was a guide for everyone supporting pupils with transition from primary to 

secondary school and helped to ensure that all educational settings in Salford were 
meeting statutory legislations for inclusion and equality as stated in the Children and 

Families Act.  The policy was a ‘living’ document and may be amended or adapted to 
reflect changes needed. 

 

 The panel was advised of the aim of the policy which was to ensure that all children in 
Salford had a consistent, quality and inclusive transition experience in order to enhance 

their wellbeing and performance as learners. 
 

 The policy advised that in order for effective transition in schools in Salford the following 

actions were required: 
 

 Consent for information sharing obtained from parent/carer should usually be 
obtained in the primary setting when a child joins the school. 

 Open day/evenings allocated on different dates at all secondary schools to allow 
parents to attend more than one.  

 Secondary schools will have a Year 7 or Transition section on their website that 

contains information such as uniform, equipment, behaviour policy or expectations, 
key dates and events etc. 

 Key dates shared and easily accessed on school websites. 

 Secondary school application deadline 31st October  

o Parents/carers have access and support to complete the online admissions 
form from gateway centres and primary schools, should they require it. 

 Two induction days for all Year 6 children held on, Thursday and Friday, the same 

week, across Salford  
o In 2022: Thursday 30th June and Friday 1st July 

o In 2023: Thursday 29th and Friday 30th June 
 

 Recommendations of the policy were also outlined as follows:  

 Induction days should include activities such as: 
o Completion of a ‘This is me’ booklet 

o Meeting the form tutor and other pupils in their form 
o A tour of the school to orientate pupils 

o Lessons in different parts of the school so pupils get used to moving from one 
classroom to another 

o Team building activities with peers 

o Introduction to routines and systems 

Page 2



Children’s Scrutiny Panel 13.07.22                                                                                                3 
 

o Early lunch away from older pupils to introduce new pupils to lunchtime 
routines and systems used for purchasing lunch 

o Opportunities for pupils to learn how to organise themselves, e.g., books, 
equipment 

o Opportunities to meet and get to know key staff such as the Head of Year and 

pastoral staff. 
 

 Basic transfer of information to be completed by the primary school by February Half 
Term and sent to school.admissions@salford.gov.uk. This information will be 

collated and shared with secondary schools once places are allocated. The LA 

transition coordinator will collect this information from primary schools and distribute 
to secondary schools. Updates will be sent as necessary. 

 ‘Face to face’ meetings (or phone call conversations for small numbers of pupils) to 
take place between primary and secondary colleagues in March and April  to share 
information about individual pupils highlighted as needing additional transition 

support. 

 Follow up information sharing conversations to take place between primary and 

secondary schools where a pupil’s circumstances change following the face-to-face 
meetings, e.g., if the pupil is excluded, experiences a bereavement etc. 

 Accessible information to be provided to parents/carers by primary and secondary 
schools about the transition process  including: 
 

-The role of the parent/carer during transition 
-The role of the primary school 

-The role of the secondary school 
-Transition Timeline for children and parent/carer 
-Key dates for events 

 

 Ensure effective pupil tracking and transferring of information to support continued 

progress e.g., best piece of independent writing, most recent maths book etc. 

 Common Basic Data Set, maintained for every child, in a school’s management 

information system transferred from the primary to secondary school using a 
Common Transfer File in the summer term. (Statutory Obligation for all maintained 
schools)  

 

 Packages for transition were outlined to the panel and explained as follows: 

 
o Transition 1: Need for some targeted help for a successful transition 
o Transition 2: Need for more targeted help for a successful transition 

o Transition 3: Need for individualised specialist help for successful transition 
o Universal Transition: Advice and guidance for transition for every child in 

Salford. 
 

 Samantha Wells spoke of her experiences in relation to the Transition process in 

her role as Assistant Principal at the Lowry Academy and advised of an evaluation 
of the policy that had taken place in the Spring Term of 2022 and had involved 

discussion with a sample of primary and secondary school staff.  The evaluation 
had also included a small number of pupils and parents about their experiences of 
transition from primary to second school.   

 

 Findings of the evaluation in relation to current practice in Salford were outlined to 

the Panel around: 

Page 3

mailto:school.admissions@salford.gov.uk


Children’s Scrutiny Panel 13.07.22                                                                                                4 
 

 
o Awareness of Policy 

o Information Sharing about pupils in writing and in discussion 
o Additional Support provided by the LA/Other Agencies 
o Transition Days in secondary schools 

o Transition for vulnerable pupils 
o Additional Partnership Working between primary and Secondary Schools 

o Curriculum and transition 
o Parental and Pupil views of transition 

Areas for Development and recommendations were outlined the Panel as follows: 

 For the Local Authority   

 To hold a briefing session on transition for all schools, but particularly for transition 

leads and year 6 teachers who are new to the role.  

 To facilitate a sharing of practice session for senior leaders on transition.  

 To update the policy with a list of key contacts in the Local Authority so schools 

know who to get in touch with.  

 To review the information sharing form in the light of responses made by schools.  

 Consider how pupils that are late joining primary schools are included in information 
sharing.  

 Organise a collaborative meeting for secondary and primary English and Literacy 
leads, and Numeracy leads. This will assist secondary teachers to understand the 

standards at Key Stage 2 in English and Maths to enable them to build upon these.  

 Ensure descriptors of the transition packages are clear to ensure consistency 

 Organise training on the transition packages.   

 Ensure communication about Looked After Children (Cared for Children), including 
any involvement with social workers etc.  is shared with all schools, as appropriate.  

For Schools  

 Secondary schools should share best practice in transition with each other, 

particularly on how curriculum links can be made with their partner primary schools.  

 Secondary schools to ensure key information is shared with all staff, where 

appropriate.  

 Secondary and primary schools to consider how they can best work together to 
understand curriculum plans and discuss standards.  

 Secondary schools to review their approaches to transition of vulnerable pupils to 
ensure the support they are getting is appropriate and that is has the impact is 

intended to.  
 
Victoria and Samantha were thanked for the very comprehensive report.  Several panel 

members reflected on their own experiences of transition from primary to secondary 
school and commented on the excellent policy. 

 
The Chair invited questions and comments from members and the following was raised: 
 

 A panel member enquired around the process for children who had not been allocated 
the school of their choice and the period of uncertainty prior to the school appeals 

process.  The panel was advised that children and families in this situation were still 
invited to school events where the pupil has been offered a place.  If a pupil missed a 

transition day, they would be invited to a tour of the school and to summer school 
events.  

Page 4



Children’s Scrutiny Panel 13.07.22                                                                                                5 
 

 A panel member enquired around monitoring of pupils that had not applied for a place 
at a secondary school.  The panel was advised that the School Admissions team are 

aware of pupils in this situation and follow up where necessary.   

 A panel member enquired around support for SEND pupils who may find the transition 
particularly difficult.  The panel was advised of support around the child as referred to 
in Transition 3 (as above). 

 A panel member enquired around support to children who may be bullied but did not 

seek help.  The panel was advised of the strong school pastoral teams that were 
available in the Lowry Academy and other schools advising that staff would notice 

issues of this nature as the problem would manifest and become apparent in a pupil.  
The panel was further advised that action would be taken quickly to support the victim 
and perpetrator in such a situation. 

 A panel member enquired around support for Asylum Seeker students.  The panel 
was advised of the Schools of Sanctuary accreditation which is a national network of 

over 350 primary and secondary schools, nurseries and sixth forms all committed to 
creating a culture of welcome and inclusion for refugees and people seeking asylum.  
Some schools in Salford were involved in this national network.  It was suggested that 

Schools of Sanctuary maybe an item for the Scrutiny Work Programme 2022/23. 

 A panel member enquired around the complaints process in relation to the school 

transition process.  The panel was advised around the complaints process.   

 A panel member referred to children transitioning to schools outside of the Salford 

border.  The panel was advised that the Transition Policy had been shared with other 
schools out of the GM area and that the Policy was viewed as good practice.  The 
panel was further advised that the situation was more challenging in relation to 

schools outside of the border.   

 A panel member enquired around the perceived dip in performance for some pupils 

following transition.  The panel member was advised of comparison of books of year 6 
and year 7 work and initiatives to address dips. 

 A panel member referred to the future in which many schools would become part of  

Multi Academy Trusts and the potential risks of pupil places in schools becoming 
scarce and the potential effects on EHCP pupils.  The panel was advised that issues 

of selectivity and non-inclusivity had not been highlighted. It was recognised that this 
issue may become a challenge in the future.  This issue as highlighted would be 

conveyed to Cathy Starbuck for further discussion. 

 A panel member highlighted that there was no reference to identifying and supporting 
young carers in the policy.  The panel was advised that primary schools may not be 

aware that a pupil was a young carer but acknowledged that this should be referred to 
in the policy.   

 A panel member highlighted that there was no reference to transport issues in the 
policy.  The panel was advised that a web page had been created at the Lowry 
Academy  with a ‘to do’ list providing practical advice around preparation for the 

school day which included advice that pupils and families are required to make their 
own arrangements around transport to school. Good practice such as this will be 

shared. 

 The panel was again reminded that the policy was a ‘living’ document that could be 

amended and adapted to reflect change. 

Resolved:  That, the the Children’s Scrutiny Panel note the report. 

5. Children’s Scrutiny Panel meeting times 

A discussion took place around meeting times of the panel. 

Page 5



Children’s Scrutiny Panel 13.07.22                                                                                                6 
 

Resolved: That, an email be circulated to the panel summarising suggestions of meeting 

times and requesting preferences of panel members. 

 

6. CSP Work Programme 2022/23 

 The current work programme was noted. 

 Priorities for the work programme 2022/23 were discussed following the panel 

responses to the recent survey that had been circulated to panel members. 

 Councillor Brocklehurst reiterated the suggestion from the recent LGA review that 

Scrutiny Committees should focus on fewer subjects and investigate issues in 
greater depth. 

Resolved: That: 

1. The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Panel to attend a meeting of Lead Member Briefing 
for Children and Young People to consider the Children’s Scrutiny Panel Work 

Programme 2022/23; and 
2. To note the suggestion that Schools of Sanctuary (as referred to in minute 5) 

maybe be included in the Scrutiny Work Programme 2022/23. 

7. Any Other Business 

 No items were reported. 

8. Date, time and venue for next meeting 

 Wednesday, 14th September 2022 at 6pm, Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre.  

Members must attend in person. 

 

Page 6



 1 

Part 1: Open to the Public – Item No. 
or 

Part 2: Closed to the Public – Item No. 

 

REPORT OF  

 

TO Childrens Scrutiny Panel  
 

ON 14th September 2022

 

TITLE: Youth Justice Plan 22/23 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
To note the contents of the Youth Justice Plan 22/23. 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
 
The attached Youth Justice Plan sets out the strategic vision & priorities for the year 
ahead including how the Youth Justice Service (YJS) will address key 

risks/challenges. 
 

- It provides an overview of the governance & leadership of the service and how 
the service is resourced including partnership arrangements 

 

- It provides an overview of annual performance against National and local Key 
Performance Indicators 

 
- It sets out how the YJS budget will be spent (including plans around evidence-

based practice & innovation) 

 
- It is submitted to the Youth Justice Board (YJB) for England & Wales and the 

YJB Core Grant (£624k for 22/23) is contingent on this 
 

- Members of the YJS Partnership Board contributed to the contents of the Plan 

 
The Plan was signed off and approved by the Strategic Director – People and Chair 

of the YJS Partnership Board, Charlotte Ramsden 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



 2 

 
 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
 

The Youth Justice Plan 22/23. 
 

 

KEY DECISION: YES / NO 
 

 

DETAILS: 
 
Please see attached Youth Justice Plan 22/23 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: N/A 
 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: N/A 
 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: N/A 
 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Section 6 of the Plan sets out 
the YJS budget for 22/23. The Senior Accountant who oversees the YJS 
budget is Ian Johnson. 

 
 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 
 

Page 8



 3 

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 
 

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 
 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: Place 
 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Lee Matthews TEL NO: 
 

 
 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Annex A - Youth Justice Plan 
 
 

Service 

 
Salford Youth Justice Service 

Service Manager / Lead Lee Matthews 

Chair of YJS Board Charlotte Ramsden 

 

 

Contents  

1. Introduction, vision and strategy 

2. Local context 

3. Child first 

4. Voice of the child 

5. Governance, leadership and partnership arrangements 

6. Resources and services 

7. Progress on previous plan 

8. Performance and priorities 

9. National standards 

10. Challenges, risks and issues 

11. Service improvement plan 

12. Evidence-based practice and innovation 

13. Looking forward  

14. Sign off, submission and approval 

15. Appendix 1 - Full board membership; linked to Governance, leadership and 

partnership arrangements 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 11



2 

 

1. Introduction, Vision and Strategy 

 
Foreword from Chair of the YJS Partnership Board:  

 

On behalf of the Salford Youth Justice Board I am pleased to share with you the 

Salford Youth Justice Plan 2022-23. Salford partners have a shared ambition to enable 

every child and young person in the city to achieve their potential and in order for this to 

be possible we work hard to enable them to be safe, healthy, have access to good 

education and opportunities, and to be listened to, so that we can continually shape 

services to better meet their needs. This plan demonstrates those commitments for 

children who become involved in crime and anti-social behaviour or are at risk of 

becoming so. Our multi-agency commitment and offer is clear and we are committed to 

measuring the impact of what we do to inform the future development of our work. We 

know that working in partnership with families is vital and our plans have a whole family 

approach, but with children at the centre. 

 

Salford is a vibrant and passionate city with much to be proud of. We are committed to 

supporting all children to access the opportunities that exist but also to support those 

who need it in respect of the challenges their lives have brought them. Poverty and 

hardship feature in the lives of too many children, and the impact of Covid 19 remains 

severe in respect of mental health, relationships, education and future plans. Our work 

focuses on doing with, not to children and their families and we are continually learning 

about the most effective relationship and strengths-based practice. 

 

I want to pay tribute to our committed and dedicated Youth Justice Service who work in 
such a committed way for the good of our children. We look forward to another year of 

passionate and dedicated work and doing our utmost to make a difference in their lives. 
 

Introduction: 
 
The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires Local Authorities to have a Youth Justice Plan 

to set out how youth justice services will be funded and delivered locally within the 
parameters created by available resources. This document sets out the plans and 

priorities of Salford Youth Justice Service (YJS) for the period 2022-23. It will be reviewed 
annually to reflect the impact of changing national and local youth justice priorities and 
service user feedback. It directly addresses the aim of the Youth Justice System to 

prevent offending by children and young people (Crime and Disorder Act 1998). 
 

Salford YJS aims to continually improve and to incorporate not only effective practice but 
also emerging practice and innovation. The service seeks to self-evaluate and be critical 
through quality assurance techniques, to maintain the delivery of best outcomes and to 

continually improve performance in relation to first-time entrants, reoffending and the use 
of custody.  

 
This plan should be read in conjunction with Salford Children’s Services Business Plan 
and Youth Crime Prevention Plan. 

 

Page 12



3 

 

childrens-services-2

021-2022-business-plan.pdf

YCAP 2022 .docx

 
 
 
‘The Salford Way’: 

 
‘The Salford Way’ is a range of initiatives aimed at creating a ‘fairer, greener and 

healthier Salford’. An ambitious plan to build a more inclusive and green local 

economy and a fairer city where everyone can reach their full potential and live 
prosperous and fulfilling lives. 

To help us achieve this vision we have identified some key priorities to tackle the 
problems people in Salford are currently facing, the Great Eight. 

 
 
 

 

 

 
Alongside other services within Salford Council, Salford YJS have a key role in 
supporting the delivery of this vision by supporting children, families, victims and 

communities. 
 

Salford YJS Vision and Mission Statement: 
 
In 2018, during a staff Development Day, a Vision Statement and Mission Statement was 

co-produced between staff and management. 

Page 13



4 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

In recognition of some recent changes to the service in terms of both frontline and 
leadership roles, it is acknowledged that a further staff Development Day is necessary in 

order to support service development, staff cohesion and to undertake a review of the 
vision and mission statement. This would also afford an opportunity to consult with 
children, parents/carers, victims and Board Members and to ensure a truly co-produced 

‘child-first’ service vision and mission statement. This is included in the service Priority 
Action Plan for 22/23. 

 
During a Manager’s Development Day in February 22, the following 3 key services 
objectives were set: 

 
1. To ensure that the fundamental aspects of our service delivery (Assessment, 

Planning, Implementation & Delivery and Review) are undertaken to the highest 
possible standard with a ‘Golden Thread’ throughout. 
 

2. To consider the use of FGC and RJ (were appropriate) to help children & young 
people repair harm, build sustainable relationships and to support them in 

desisting from offending/re-offending. 
 

3. To explore new ways to capture the voice of children, parents/carers and victims 

in all aspects of our work. This may include invites to Resettlement Panels and 
capturing their voice in MARMMs. 

 
Staff were consulted on these objectives and these have been incorporated into staff 
appraisals for 22/23. These 3 objectives are themed around the need to ensure that the 
‘bread and butter’ of service delivery is achieved (linked to Domains 2 and 3 of the 
HMIP Inspection Framework), that restorative approaches are embedded into practice 

and that participation is central in the work we deliver. 

 

Page 14



5 

 

Significantly, National Youth Justice data indicates a sustained and positive reduction in 
the number of children entering the youth justice system for the first time. Somewhat 
invariably however, the focus on diversion and prevention also brings with it the 

recognition that those children who do remain in the Youth Justice Services are often the 
most vulnerable children with multiple complex needs. Many of these children are 

entrenched in a cycle of offending and often present the greatest risk to the public and 
subsequently the biggest challenges to the professionals responsible for their 
supervision and care.  Indeed, no single agency has the resources or expertise to 

improve outcomes and desistance for these children single-handedly; it is therefore vital 
that a partnership approach based on integration and innovation to tackling youth crime 

remains at the heart of this plan. How Salford achieve this, is covered in section 5 of this 
plan. 
 

1.1. Key Achievements for 21/22: 
 

 An ETE Thematic Inspection was carried out at Salford YJS by HMIP, Ofsted and 
Estyn. Whilst not published, the feedback from the Lead Inspector was 
overwhelmingly positive. Learning and recommendations have been taken on 

board and captured within the YJS Priority Action Plan. 
 

 160 AQA awards achieved for 68 individual children. 
 

 Salford YJS achieved the Achievement for All SEND Quality Lead status and are 
working towards the Child First Commendation. 
 

 Continued delivery of services ‘business as usual’ approach during Covid-19 
Pandemic. Responsive interventions utilising various methods of contact.  

 

 At present, all posts within the service structure (see Appendix 2) are filled with 

the exception of the Seconded Probation Officer, however, efforts are being made 
to recruit to this and contingency arrangements are in place to support the 
transition of children from youth to adult services. 

 

 A dedicated YJS Training Plan for 22/23 was created. Staff were consulted about 

training needs through a staff survey and 1:1s. 
 

 One of the YJS Social Workers successfully supported two student Social 

Workers who have since secured roles in Children’s Social Care (CSC). 
 

 The YJS Management Team agreed a new meeting structure for 22/23 including 
monthly Whole Service Meetings, monthly Management Team Meetings and 

monthly Management Priority Action Plan Meetings. In addition, Salford YJS have 
continued to commission a Social Work Consultant to deliver quarterly Clinical 
Supervision for the Team. The team continue to benefit from Case Consultation 

Meetings and Specialist Drop-Ins to discuss children and these are facilitated by 
dedicated members of the Team.  

 

 A new audit process and cycle was agreed for 22/23. The first audit of 20x cases 
was completed by the Management Team in March 22 with dates agreed for the 

rest of the year. Findings from the audit have been reflected in the Priority Action 
Plan to ensure continuous service improvement. 

Page 15



6 

 

 

 A YJS Priority Action Plan was devised based on initial findings and observations 
of the new Head of Service and feedback from the Management Team, wider 

team and the Partnership Board. This plan is reviewed monthly by the YJS 
Management Team and updates are presented at the quarterly Partnership 

Board. 
 

 Salford YJS have continued to see an overall reduction in the Binary Reoffending 

rate and First Time Entrants. 
 

2. Local Context  

 

Salford YJS works across a largely urban area covering 37 square miles and the five 
districts of Salford: Eccles, Worsley, Irlam and Cadishead, and Swinton and Pendlebury 
covering 20 wards: 

 
 

 
 

A snapshot of Salford’s demographic as of 01.04.22: 
 

 The 10-17 years population of Salford is 23,561 (equates to 9%  of total 

Salford population: 262,697, ONS 2020) 

 86%  of the Salford population are White British (14%  BAME) 

 50.6%  of the population in Salford are male with 49.4%  female 

 Salford is ranked in the top 10%  most deprived areas nationally with 23.3% of 

children living in low-income families (average household income £30,056, 
2019). 

 
Children’s Social Care (CSC) information as of 01.04.22: 

 
 2490 children open to statutory CSC   

 562 cared for children  

Page 16



7 

 

 312 children with a child protection plan   

 
A snapshot of Salford’s YJS caseload as of 01.04.22: 
 
105 children open to the YJS with one of these children having 2 active interventions  

(total of 106 interventions). 
 

- 26 were mentoring/befriending related 

- 11 were at assessment stage (following recent referrals into the service) 
- 36 were Out of Court (OOC) Disposals 

- 33 were Court Imposed Disposals 
 

Excluding the mentoring/befriending interventions, there were 80 active interventions 
across the OOC and Court Disposals. 45% (36) were OOC Disposals and 41% (33) 
were Court Disposals with the other 14% (11) made up of young people being assessed 

in the main (7) for OOC Disposals.  

Nationally, the trends in Youth Justice cohorts have changed in recent years with more 

children (typically two-thirds) being dealt with in the OOC arena. Based on the above 
data, Salford YJS had 54% (once the assessments were concluded) of the caseload 

that were OOC Disposals which is slightly less than the National picture. This may be 

a consequence of the serious nature of offending in Salford (resulting in Court Disposals) 
which is characterised by an increase in serious youth violence and children committing 

seriously violent offences (including Murder) at a young age with some of them having 
had no previous youth justice involvement.  

Consequently, Salford have a significant challenge in terms of the number of children 

and young people being remanded or sentenced to custody with one of the highest per 
1000 of the 10 – 17 population across England and Wales. A recent ETE Thematic 
Inspection undertaken in January 2022 confirmed that Salford had one of the most 

‘complex’ caseloads they had seen during the inspection cycle. 

Other YJS caseload data for the period April 21 – March 22: 

The below data is based on all new OOC and Court Disposals during this period: 
 

 Age – 75% aged between 14 – 17 

 Gender - 83% male 

 Ethnicity – 22% BAME demonstrating an over-representation in the YJS when 

compared to the general population which is 14% BAME 

 CSC Status – 16% cared for children and 8% were subject to a child 
protection plan 

 
3. Child First  

 

Salford YJS commitment to a child first approach: 
 
Salford YJS and its Partnership Board, share the YJB’s vision for a youth justice system 

that treats children as children. In line with the Salford YJS vision, we want to empower 
children to be the best that they can be and realise their potential.  

 
The new Head of Service that joined the service on 31st January 2022, has been greatly 
impressed by the genuine passion, desire and commitment that the staff have towards 

Page 17



8 

 

the children which are qualities fully aligned with the Salford Values (Pride, Passion, 
People and Personal Responsibility). Many longstanding staff members some of 

whom have worked at the YJS for over 20 years continue to work effortlessly and 

innovatively to ensure best outcomes for the children that we work with.  
 

The new Head of Service recognises that to be truly child first, the workforce must have 
the relevant skills and personal qualities. As such, all recruitment assesses the applicants 
understanding of a child first approach and for existing staff, this is regularly assessed 

and discussed through internal quality assurance and supervision processes. 
 

Following the recent communication from the YJB, two staff members (Case Manager 
and Intervention Worker) have been booked onto the Child First Effective Practice 
Award. This additional knowledge will be invaluable for the service and it is hoped that 

following the course, the two staff members will become ‘Child First Champions’ to help 
further develop the child first approach within Salford YJS and across the wider 

partnership. 
 
In addition, the YJS are currently in the process of having it’s SEND Quality Lead 

(accredited by Achievement for All) upgraded to include a Child First Commendation. 
 

Consideration to the four tenants of the child: 
 
Below are five key examples of how Salford YJS are working towards a child first 

approach: 
 

Responsive Interventions: 

 
Salford YJS are proud to have a dedicated Interventions Team which is overseen by one 

of the four Operational Managers. Four Intervention Workers take a leading role in 
sourcing, devising and updating new resources and interventions in consultation with 

children. This ensures that intervention delivery is current, child-centred, developmentally 
informed and responsive to particular needs and any structural barriers. During the 
monthly Whole Service Meeting, any new interventions are presented to the team so that 

all staff are made aware to support with intervention delivery. 
 

Assessment and Planning: 

 
As of April 2022, all children open to Salford YJS (with the exception of Diversion) have 

a full AssetPlus completed which ensures a holistic end-to-end assessment and plan is 
completed. The child and their parent/carer are central within this process particularly in 

relation to the planning element. Salford YJS have an Intervention Plan which gives equal 
consideration to areas of concern (factors ‘against’ desistance) and strengths (factors 
‘for’ desistance) which can support with their pro-social identity and sustainable 

desistance and thus impacting positively on communities and resulting in fewer victims.  
 
Constructive Resettlement: 

 
In particular reference to children entering and leaving custody, Salford YJS have in place 

a Resettlement Policy which is underpinned by the principles of Constructive 
Resettlement. Following the arrival of the new Head of Service, the Resettlement Policy 

along with all other guidance, is being further developed to give greater consideration to 

Page 18



9 

 

supporting children entering custody with SEND and utilising a more robust planning 
template to capture the child’s voice in their resettlement planning. 
 

Prevention and Diversion: 
 

In terms of promoting a childhood removed from the justice system utilising effective 

prevention and diversion, Salford YJS have a commitment to driving this to ensure that 

the right children receive the right support at the right time, whilst ensuring that children 

that don’t require YJS support are signposted to relevant services through locally agreed 

systems. Salford YJS recognise that sometimes exposing children to a youth justice  

setting can sometimes create stigma and in some cases do more bad than good. In 

2021/22, Salford worked with 36 children on a diversion basis down from 57 in 2020/21 

(a reduction of 37%). Referrals come from the Police, CSC and the Community Safety 

Referral Team. At present the YJS Prevention and Diversion offer is being revised by the 

Operational Manager leading in this area which will ensure that processes are clear and 

streamlined. This review involves partners from Early Help and aims to ensure that 

children are accessing the right support at the right time and from the right service. Once 

the review is completed in early Summer 22, promotional work will take place to ensure 

that referrals are being made where concerns/needs are identified. 

Widening the Child First Approach: 

 
The work undertaken by YJS Practitioners and Managers presents various opportunities 
for the child first approach to be promoted across the partnership. 

 
This can range simply from the language we use during multi-agency meetings through 

to the organisation of partnership arrangements, service delivery and training.  
 
A recent review of the Out of Court Disposal Panel has resulted in a multi-agency 

approach whereby the Panel has additional representatives from CSC and Health. The 
Panel is underpinned by a child first approach and is therefore feeding into a multi-agency 

mindset shift regarding seeing the child as a child before an offender. 
 
Furthermore, one of the YJS Police Officers is currently developing a virtual training 

package for Greater Manchester Police which will include short video presentations from 
YJS staff and key partners whereby the child first approach can be communicated. Once 

completed, this training can be used as ongoing material for all new recruits. Training 
has also been provided to Magistrates regarding child first and trauma-informed 
approaches and the new Head of Service jointly with one of the Operational Managers 

has recently delivered a YJS Partnership Board Induction which promotes the child first 
approach. 

 
4. Voice of the Child  

  

Salford YJS have a Participation Strategy which has recently been updated. This outlines 
the various methods by which feedback from children, parents/carers and victims is used 

to shape service provision and delivery. Salford YJS have developed an ethos whereby 
staff pro-actively seek to gain feedback from service users at all stages of their 
involvement from initial assessment through to closure.  

 

Page 19



10 

 

The voice of children feeds into to citywide youth voice initiatives through Salford’s voice 
of the child group. For example, young people’s views from the YJS have fed into 
documents on Covid impact and the Neglect Strategy. 

 
In April 2022, two Workers (Reparation Worker and Community Connector) were 

identified as ‘Participation Champions’ and they are playing an active role in gaining 
impartial feedback from services users at the end of interventions. The plan is that this 
feedback will be collated on a monthly basis and presented to the monthly Managers 

Meeting to review. Any key strengths or learning can then be shared with the wider team 
and used to shape service delivery. 

 
The Interventions Team are constantly adapting interventions and programmes such as 
the Car Crime Programme based on feedback that they receive from children. Below is 

some feedback from one of the Interventions Workers on how feedback is captured to 
inform intervention delivery: 

 
“As we re-vamped the Car Crime programme, I picked a group of young people to help 
me with this task and worked on a one-one basis. Each time we completed a session I 

asked for their feedback, what they found engaging, was it easy to understand? was the 
session too long? did they start to lose concentration? did they understand the point of 

the session? what could we have done better? Working on this task with our YP was 
extremely positive as they all have individual learning styles and skills, the information 
they provided and their idea’s where then put into practice and they were more than 

happy for me to show them the updated  session which they had helped to develop, I 
have now started using this model on all our intervention sessions so moving forward we 

can keep our programmes in line with our YP views and learning capabilities”. 
 
Areas for development: 

 
Whilst participation is on the whole strong, some new processes are yet to be fully 

embedded and there is a recognition that participation within Salford YJS can be further 
strengthened: 
 

 With the recent relaxation of Covid-19 regulations, some more young people 
forums could be developed to further enhance how we capture feedback from 

children. 
 

 The voice of children could also be better represented in strategic forums such 

as the YJS Partnership Board and within the recruitment of new staff.  
 

 Considering how digital technology can be used to capture feedback from 
children i.e., voice recordings, video recordings. 

 

 Ensuring that we capture young people’s views in YJS led meetings such as 
Resettlement Panels and within Multi-Agency Risk Management Meetings 

(MARMMS). 
 

All of the above will be built into the YJS Priority Action Plan for 22/23. 
 
 

 

Page 20



11 

 

5. Governance, Leadership and Partnership Arrangements 

 
Governance and Leadership: 

 
Salford YJS is a multi-agency partnership that sits within CSC in Salford City Council.  

The service is led by the Assistant Director of CSC and the Head of Youth Justice. Within 
the YJS Management Structure there are four full-time Operational Managers (all with 
newly agreed Thematic Leads and areas of responsibility) that sit under the Head of 

Service – see Appendix 2. 
 

Historically the YJS has been very stable with minimal staff turnover and overall, this is 
still very much the case. Over the past 12 months however, there have been some 
changes in the leadership with the longstanding Head of Service taking on a new role in 

the Council and one of the four Operational Managers taking up a promotion opportunity 
within another Local Authority. A new Head of Service commenced in post at the end of 

January 2022 and an Operational Manager who was already working for Salford City 
Council commenced in post in late 2021. 
 

Governance of the YJS is provided by the YJS Partnership Board which meets quarterly, 
and this is chaired by the Strategic Director - People. Additional governance is provided 

by the Salford Safeguarding Children’s Partnership and the Community Safety 
Partnership.  
 

With the new Head of Service starting at the end of January 2022, this has presented an 
opportunity for the function and membership of the YJS Partnership Board to be 

reviewed. New members have been identified from the Speech and Language Team 
(attended first Board Meeting in April 2022), CAMHS and the CCG (with a view to them 
attending future meetings). Existing Members from services such as Early Help have 

also been contacted to request attendance going forward. Furthermore, the April 2022 
Board acknowledged the fact that a formal Vice Chair was required so this is currently in 

the process of being finalised. The format of the meeting has been adapted to include a 
case study at the start of each meeting whereby members of the YJS Team are invited 
to present and there is now a partner report card which requires key partners to provide 

data and narrative relating to their service area and how this is supporting the work of 
the YJS. The report card is still in its infancy and requires further embedding to achieve 

consistency however, this is a positive step in regards to a joined up approach.  
 
The Head of Service produces a quarterly performance report which is presented to 

Board Members, and this has recently been improved to provide a greater level of 
analysis and insight into the children open to the YJS. The first deep-dive analysis was 

presented to the April 22 Board and further deep-dives will be presented to the Board on 
a quarterly basis. 
 

Deep Dive 

4.4.22.docx
 

 
Board Members have welcomed these changes. In addition to providing performance 

data to the YJS Partnership Board, Salford YJS provides information for the Children 
Services Business Plan and to Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA). 
 

Page 21



12 

 

The Head of Service and one of the Operational Managers delivered a Board Induction 
for all Board Members in April and June 22. This covered an overview of the YJS, roles 
and responsibilities of Board Members, a section on the HMIP Inspection, a self-

assessment against Domain 1 of the HMIP Inspection Framework (Organisational 
Delivery) and a Board Pledge. Going forward, a booklet is going to be produced for Board 

Members which will provide all relevant information about the YJS. At the end of the 
Board Induction, Members were asked to consider the following three questions and 
feedback to the Head of Service: 

 
1. How does the work of the YJS contribute towards the aims and objectives of your 

service / organisation? 
2. How can your service / organisation contribute towards the aims and objectives of 

the YJS? 

3. How do I or could I contribute to the YJS Partnership Board? 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Partnership Arrangements: 

 
Salford YJS is one of ten Councils in the GMCA that provides a youth justice service and 
works collaboratively in the delivery of training and provision of services. Heads of Service 

from within GMCA meet on a monthly basis to ensure that strategic partnership 
arrangements remain strong. Heads of Service also oversee the Greater Manchester 

Transforming Youth Justice Action Plan which is currently under review for 22/23.. 
 
In addition to statutory partners from the Police, Health and National Probation Service, 

Salford YJS benefits from the wider involvement of voluntary organisations including: 
 

 Barnardos - working with children displaying Harmful Sexual Behaviours 

 City Wall - delivering direct support to children in custody and supporting 

successful resettlement plans underpinned by Constructive Resettlement 

 Remedi - delivering mentoring and reparation services to children   

 Early Break – working with children and families affected by substance misuse 

issues 

Page 22



13 

 

 Youth Service – Choose to Change Project working with children (aged 10 – 

12) at risk of entering the youth justice system through a preventative and 
targeted lens 

 Career Connect – working with school leavers to support with suitable ETE 

destinations. 
 

Within the YJS structure, there are 2x qualified Social Workers and a dedicated 
Education, Training, Employment (ETE) Worker. The ETE Worker post has recently 
being taken up by a new post-holder and they will have a key focus in ensuring that 

strong links are established and maintained with mainstream, specialist, alternative and 
further education providers. 

 
Salford YJS is committed to working in partnership to ensure:  
 

 Children are appropriately diverted from the YJS  

 That offending by children is prevented and the use of custody is reduced 

 The delivery of quality and effective services to children, parents/carers, victims 
and the community 

 The improvement of practice and achievement of positive outcomes for children 
and young people  

 That children are safeguarded and risk to the public is minimised and managed 
effectively  

 That restorative justice, trauma-informed and child-first approaches underpin our 

practice  

 The unnecessary criminalisation of cared for children and other disproportionality 

represented group is avoided where at all possible  

 Improved Education, Training and Employment opportunities for children within 

the service  

 Improved physical health and wellbeing for all children entering YJS 

 That the service provides value for money. 

 
Salford YJS invite partners to relevant meetings including MARMMS, the weekly Out of 

Court Disposal Panel, Resettlement Panels and other relevant professionals/Team 
Around the Family meetings regarding children. In addition, YJS staff and Operational 

Managers attend relevant forums including the Chanel Panel, Strategy Meetings, Missing 
from Home Meetings, CIN, CP, LAC Reviews and MAPPA meetings as some examples. 
 

The Head of Service is linked into several strategic meetings as follows: 
 
Strategic Partnership Meetings in Salford: 

 

 Serious Organised Crime Strategic Governance 

 Youth Crime Prevention Steering Group 

 Reducing Reoffending Group (Adults) 

 SEND Partnership Board 

 Vulnerable Learners Partnership Board 

 Community Parenting Board 

 Community Safety Partnership 

 Complex Safeguarding Partnership Group 

 Schools Causing Concern Meeting 

 Drug and Alcohol Working Group 

Page 23



14 

 

 Threats to Life Partnership Governance Meeting 
 
Regional Meetings: 

 

 GM YJ Strategic Managers Meeting 

 GM Resettlement Consortium Strategic Group 

 NW Head of Service Meetings (YJB) 

 GM Out of Court Scrutiny Panel 
 

6. Resources and Services  

 

At the time of writing this plan, the YJB Core Grant for 2022/23 has not yet been 
confirmed, however, an email received from the YJB on 20.05.22 confirmed an extra 

£300m of investment into the youth justice sector over the next 3 years. This plan has 
been based on receiving the same YJB Core Grant as in 21/22 and known funding 

from the Local Authority and GMCA.  
 
In addition to using the YJB Core Grant to support the delivery of the YJS Training Plan 

and developments around innovative practice and service development, any 
enhancement would be used to further improve services for children, families, victims 

and communities in Salford with a focus on prevention and diversion. Conversations 
have already commenced with partners in anticipation of this grant increase however, 
once confirmed, consultation with young people, staff and Board Members will take place 

to consider how this funding can be best utilised.  

 
The funding provided to the YJS by all partners and grant-funding bodies is utilised to 

support the delivery of services to reduce or prevent young people from coming into the 
criminal justice system.   
 
Youth Justice 2022/23 Budget: 

  

Agency  Staffing   
Costs (£)  

Payments in 
kind – revenue 
(£)  

Other 
delegated  
Funds (£)  

Total (£)  

Local Authority   115,000  500,684  50,000 665,684 
Police Service   27,500  

 
    27,500  

National Probation 
Service   

44,431  
 

 
  44,431 

Health Service 
(CCG)  

48,100 
  

    48,100  

Police and Crime 
Commissioner   

        

YJB Core Grant     561,945    561,945  

Other:  

  
GMCA  

  

    
  

45,000  
  

    
  

45,000  

  
Total:  

  

  

235,031 
 

  

£1,107,629 

  

50,000 
 

  
£1,392,660 

Page 24



15 

 

  
Section 39 (1) of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 requires the co-operation of the 
named statutory partners to form a YOT. Section 38 (1,2) identifies the statutory 

partners and places a duty on them to co-operate to secure youth justice services 
appropriate to their area. These statutory partners are:  
 

 The Local Authority (this includes CSC and Education)  

 The Police  
 The National Probation Service (NPS) 

 Health  
 
With the exception of the Seconded Probation Officer, Salford YJS are fully compliant 

with these requirements. Providing dedicated staff with knowledge of their host 
agencies to the service helps to support the ethos of integration and supports multi-

agency working.   
 
The YJS Seconded Probation Officer post has been vacant since the end of 2021. The 

Head of Service has liaised with the NPS and given the National shortage of qualified 
Probation Officers and the current lack of suitable candidates to fill the YJS post, monies 

are currently being claimed in order that the YJS can consider how it resources other 
areas of the service. Given the small number of young people in the YJS cohort presently 
that require a transition to the NPS, this is manageable with identified staff in the NPS 

overseeing any transitions however, as soon as a suitable candidate becomes available 
plans will be made to ensure the Secondment arrangement is fulfilled. 

 
7. Progress on Previous Plan  

 

The following 4 priorities were set out in the Youth Justice Plan for 21/22 and below are 
updates on progress made: 

 
Covid-19 Response – In 2020 at the start of the pandemic the YJS developed their 

Business Continuity Plan and Risk Assessment. In line with Government guidance all 

staff were initially advised to work from home and Council offices were closed.  
 

Nevertheless, the YJS being a statutory service maintained a ‘business as usual’  
approach ensuring that children continued to be seen with staff delivering interventions 
at children’s homes, in schools, out in the community and virtually. The YJS was one of 

the first Council services to return to its office with limited staff going in on set days and 
with the use of ‘staff bubbles’. Up until March 2022, staff had been office-based for a 

maximum of 2 days per week however, in line with Government guidance and the lifting 
of restrictions, the Covid-19 risk assessment was updated and staff now have the 
flexibility to be office-based as they see fit and in line with the Councils ‘Hybrid’ model of 

working. Staff are using a booking system to see children at the YJS office and a number 
of meetings including Referral Orders Panels continue to take place from the YJS office.  
 
Education, Training & Employment – Most notably, an ETE Thematic Inspection was 

carried out at Salford YJS in January 2022. Whilst not published, the feedback from the 

Lead Inspector was overwhelmingly positive. Learning and recommendations have been 
taken on board and captured within the YJS Priority Action Plan. The key 

recommendation related to the YJS improving communication with some of the 
mainstream secondary provisions in Salford. This recommendation has already been 
progressed by the YJS Operational Manager with a Thematic Lead for ETE and the 

Page 25



16 

 

Service Manager for Educational Inclusion. The new YJS ETE Worker will be taking a 
key role in ensuring that relationships with identified schools are established and 
maintained to assist in effective information sharing going forward. 

 
A new development in Salford includes primary and secondary schools causing concern 

meetings which are attended by the Head of Service. This affords an opportunity for any 
issues to be fed through to the Head of Service that can be communicated in such 
meetings. 

 
The YJS has well established relationships and arrangements with colleagues in the city 

to ensure that young people who become involved with the service are supported to do 
well in education and progress to appropriate further education, vocational training or 
employment opportunities. Progress in this area will be reported to and monitored by the 

YJS Partnership Board each quarter. 
 

As detailed in the previous YJ Plan, the Department for Education provided additional 
funds to a number of Alternative Provision (AP) schools in England who have been 
highlighted due to their high pupil numbers and identified as hot spots for youth violence 

including knife crime. This includes Salford’s Pupil Referral Unit for children permanently 
excluded from mainstream schools. A high percentage of young people involved with the 

YJS attend this educational facility. These additional resources have been used to co-
locate specialist workers from health, education, CSC, youth services and youth justice. 
It has been recognised that young people who attend AP schools are at high risk of 

disengagement from education and becoming involved in serious violence and county 
lines offending. The YJS is currently involved in this initiative with one of its staff members 

seconded into the role until Spring 2023. 
 
Serious Youth Violence – Salford like many other areas in England and Wales are 

experiencing an increase in the number of young people being charged with offences of 
violence that often involves the use of weapons. Over the past 12-months, these 

concerns have escalated with a number of young people being remanded or sentenced 
for seriously violent offences including Murder. Salford YJS have devised a Reducing the 
Use of Custody document which sets out the response to try and reduce remands and 

custodial sentences. 
 

Salford YJS and the wider partnership are aware of this and continue to coordinate a 
response which sets out plans to tackle serious youth violence. A GM Serious Violence 
Action Plan has been devised which sets out the partnership response. In addition to 

developing and delivering a range of interventions for young people committing violent 
offences, Salford YJS play a key role in contributing to the Youth Crime Prevention Plan 

through the delivery of Diversion, Out of Court and Court Disposals. Salford YJS jointly 
with Clifton PRU run a termly THRIVE – Knife Crime Prevention Programme. This is 
open to young people with knife offences supervised by the YJS as well as identified 

pupils at Clifton PRU. 
 

Through links to the GM Strategic Managers Meeting and Salford’s Community Safety 
Partnership, Salford YJS are also linked into the Violence Reduction Unit and accesses 
a range of joint funding opportunities aimed at tackling serious youth violence. One 

example of how this funding has been used so far is through the delivery of coaching 
sessions for the service by an organisation called ‘coaching inside and out’. With this 

coaching, it is hoped that peer and manager support can be strengthened through more 

Page 26



17 

 

meaningful and inquiry led conversations which in turn can support enhanced 
assessment and intervention delivery for the young people and families that we support. 
 

Through the Youth Crime Preventing Steering Group and the associated Serious 
Violence Spending Plan, Salford YJS have been successful in bidding for £18,000 

through the Violence Reduction Unit to support the reduction of youth crime and violence 
through Restorative Approaches. This will involve uplifting the part-time Reparation 
Worker post to full-time with a focus on expanding the offer to OOC Disposals, better 

involving victims and communities, developing projects and increasing employability and 
life chances for children through AQA accreditations.  
 

Salford’s Adolescents Offer – Over the past year, Salford YJS in partnership with 

colleagues devised an electronic directory of resources and a programme of seminars to 
highlight the opportunities available in Salford. These have been made available to a 
wide range of organisations and services in Salford.  

 
Since the last YJ Plan, the Salford Safeguarding Children Partnership annual strategic 

and assurance priority areas for 22/23 have been agreed and one of the assurance areas 
is in relation to adolescents. There has been a request for an Adolescent Strategy to be 
developed which will accompany the directory previously produced. The Head of Youth 

Justice has been asked to lead on this piece of work which commenced in May 22. The 
plan is for the strategy to be finalised in Winter 22/23. 

 
8. Performance and Priorities  

 

The Youth Justice Board and the YJS Partnership Board oversee performance of the 
service. The Head of Service produces a quarterly Performance Report to the Board with 

Quarter 4 providing end of year comparisons. The Head of Service also presents a 
summary of key findings (see below attachment) to the whole service each quarter to 
ensure that they are aware of local trends and priorities. The two most recent 

Performance Reports have aimed to provide the Board with a greater level of insight into 
the children and young people open to the YJS. Below is the most recent Performance 

Report for Quarter 4. 
 

YJS performance 

report for Quarter 4 2021 2022.docx

Q4 Performance Key 

Highlights for Team 5.5.22.pptx
 

 
Since the new Head of Service has come into post, there has been a drive to improve 
how and what data we capture with a recognition that to drive service improvement we 

must understand the local performance data and trends. The Head of Service is currently 
reviewing the current staffing resource regarding data analysis and hopes to finalise this 

arrangement in the coming months so that data analysis can be further strengthened. 
 
Managers meet on a monthly basis to review performance data and a new template has 

been introduced in May 22 which Managers will continue to develop. Going forward, the 
Head of Service will be presenting key highlights from performance data to the CSC 
Head of Service group on a quarterly basis. 

 

Page 27



18 

 

The below provides an overview of Salford YJS performance against the 3 National Key 
Performance Indicators and an overview of the caseload profile from April 21 to March 
22. 
 
5-year performance data against the 3 National Key Performance Indicators: 

 
 

Reporting Period 
 

 

 
First Time 
Entrants 

 
Reoffending Rate 

 
Custodial 
Sentences 

April 17 – March 
18 

88 
 

PNC data: 413 (rate 
per 100,000 of 10-17 

population) 

35.9% 
 

April 17 – Mar 18 
No in cohort 156 
Reoffenders 56 

No of offences 341 

 
16 

April 18 - March 
19 

 
78 

 
PNC data: 288 (rate 
per 100,000 of 10-17 

population) 

34.3% 
 

April 18 – Mar 19 

No in cohort 140 
Reoffenders 48 
No of offences 248 

 
24  

April 19 - March 
20 

 
64 

 
PNC data: 219 (rate 
per 100,000 of 10-17 

population) 

28.6% 
 

April 19 – Mar 20 

No in cohort 105 
Reoffenders 30 
No of offences 141 

 
26 

 

April 20 – March 

21 

60 

 
PNC data: 187 (rate 
per 100,000 of 10-17 

population) 

 

No published data 

 

8 

April 21 – March 
22 

52 
 

PNC data not 
published 

No published data 

 
11 

 
Note: Given reffending data is 2-year old data, it is not possible at this stage to collate 

the end of year reoffending data for 2020/21 and 2021/22. 
 
First Time Entrants (FTEs): 

 
The data in the above table evidences a year on year reduction in FTEs based on locally 

collated data. There is no YJB data for the period April 21 – March 22 as yet and the 
latest published data is for the period October 20 – September 21. When looking at the 

same period for the previous year there has been an increase in the number of FTEs 
from 26 to 49 or 114 to 208 (rate per 100,000 of 10-17 population) which is an increase 

of 82%.  

 
Comparison to same period in previous years - rate per 100,000 of 10-17 population 

 
Oct 16 – Sep 17 - 354 
Oct 17 – Sep 18 - 374  

Page 28



19 

 

Oct 18 – Sep 19 - 258 

 
Based on the above data, the latest data is indeed lower and it would appear that the 

figure of 114 in the period Oct 19 - Sep 20, was much lower than the typical trend. It is 
possible that the impact of Covid-19 and the several lockdowns resulted in less arrests. 

In addition, a delay in charging decisions meant that a number of children that committed 
offences in between Oct 19 – Sep 20 only became FTEs in the period between Oct 20 – 
Sep 21. 

 
When taking the latest PNC data for October 20 – September 21, Salford YJS have 

higher FTEs than the England and Wales average and our YOT Family average. 
 
England and Wales: 154 (rate per 100,000 of 10-17 population) 

YOT Family Average:  189 (rate per 100,000 of 10-17 population) 
 
FTEs will continue to be a key priority for Salford YJS with a vision to bring this 
below the England and Wales and YOT Family averages. 
 

Reoffending Rate: 
 

The data tells us that there has been a year on year decrease in Salford’s reoffending 
rate from 2017/18 through to 2019/20. It is also positive to note that Salford’s reoffending 
rate (28.6%) is lower than the England and Wales average and our YOT Family average 

for the latest period 2019/20. 
 

England and Wales: 34.2% 
YOT Family Average: 34.7% 
 
It is a priority for Salford YJS to ensure that it continues to reduce the reoffending 
rate and stay below the England and Wales and YOT Family averages. 

 

From the 1st April, the YJS are tracking a cohort of young people that are receiving 
substantive outcomes (Youth Caution up) which going forward will provide a more ‘live’ 

picture of our reoffending performance.  
 

Custodial Sentences: 
 

The data tells us that whilst Salford’s custody figures remain too high, they have reduced 

when compared to the three previous years between 2017/18 and 2019/20. 2018/19 and 
2019/20 were particularly high with a combined 52 custodial sentences over a 2-year 

period. 
 
The latest end of year custody data published by the YJB is for the period January 21 – 
December 21. During this period, Salford had a rate of 0.34 per 1,000 of 10-17 population 

which is considerably higher than the England and Wales average and Salford’s YOT 

Family average for the same period (Jan 21 – Dec 21). 
 
England and Wales: 0.11 (rate per 1,000 of 10-17 population) 

YOT Family Average: 0.14 (rate per 1,000 of 10-17 population) 
 

Positively though it has reduced from the three previous reporting periods: 
 

Page 29



20 

 

Jan 17 – Dec 17 – 0.76 (rate per 1,000 of 10-17 population) 
Jan 18 – Dec 18 – 1.11 (rate per 1,000 of 10-17 population) 
Jan 19 – Dec 19 – 1.22 (rate per 1,000 of 10-17 population) 

 
Reducing the use of custody continues to be a big priority for Salford YJS and in 

recognition of this challenge, the YJS has produced a ‘Reducing the Use of 

Custody for Children and Young People’ document which sets out efforts and 

measures in place to try and reduce the use of custody were possible.  

Salford Youth 

Justice Service reducing custody.docx
 

Case Profiles April 21 – March 22: 

 

The below data provides an overview of the 192 interventions delivered by Salford YJS 

in the period of April 21 – March 22. It provides analysis of such data and addresses 
areas of disproportanility and measures being taken to address this. 
 

 
 
Overall, the number of Out of Court (OOC) Interventions has dropped from 161 to 

135 this year when compared to the previous year evidencing a reduction of 16%. 

There are considerably less Community Resolutions (CR) this year down from 86 to 58. 

However, the number of Youth Cautions (YC) doubled from 12 to 24 and the Youth 

Conditional Cautions (YCC) were up from 6 to 10. When looking at the reasons for the 

increase in YCs, it became evident that in 8 of the 16 cases, possession of an offensive 

weapon was the index offence carrying a gravity score of 3, therefore, a CR was not 

suitable. The prevalence of children carrying knives is concerning and an issue that as a 

partnership we need to continue to address.  

The number of children being referred for Diversion support has reduced from 57 

to 36 this year when compared to the previous year evidencing a reduction of 37%. 

36

7

58

24

10

20

8
5

13 11

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Interventions by Type

Page 30



21 

 

As previously referred to in this plan, the prevention and diversion offer is currently under 

review. 

Overall, the number of Court Disposals has dropped from 80 to 57 this year when 

compared to the previous year evidencing a reduction of 29%. There are 

considerably less community-imposed Court Orders (Referral Orders and Youth 

Rehabilitation Orders) however, Remands and Custodial Sentences have increased 

which is of great concern.  

Serious youth violence has resulted in a number of children (and increasingly younger 

children) committing seriously violent offences whereby for public protection purposes, 

remand or a custodial sentence was deemed appropriate. Salford YJS are seeing an 

increase in the number of children with no previous offences, committing serious 

offences and being sentenced to custody without prior involvement of the YJS.  

 

 
 

The most commonly committed main offences leading to OOC Disposals are Assault 
followed by Weapon Possession and Drug Possession. Given the context of Salford and 
issues around serious youth violence and organised crime groups, these types of 

offences are not surprising and can very often be interlinked. 
 

The most commonly committed main offences leading to Court Disposals are violent 
offences involving the use of weapons and assaults along with Burglary. 
 

 

2

41

18

13

7
5

14

25

16

7 6
2

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Interventions by linked Main Offence

Page 31



22 

 

 
On average females represent approximately 20% of the OOC cohort and 15% of the 
Court cohort with an overall representation of just over 17% of the interventions in 21/22. 
 

Salford YJS has a number of female workers and the Intervention staff have devised, 
adapted and developed a range of interventions and resources with children to ensure 

that they give consideration to different needs including gender. 
 
 

 
 
Most children open to the YJS on OOC interventions are aged between 13 – 16 with the 

majority of the children in the Court cohort aged 16 and 17. This is very much reflective 
of previous data and the National picture in terms of more children within the Court cohort 
being on the older side of youth justice age range. 

 

159

33

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

Male Female

Interventions by Gender

7
10 11

22
25

33 32

50

2

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18

Age at start of Intervention in years

Page 32



23 

 

 
 
Our data tells us that on average just under one-quarter of the children open to Salford 
YJS are from an ethnic minority background. When considering the general population 

of Salford which is just over 86% White British (so 14% other/non-White British), children 
and young people from the BAME community are disproportionally represented in the 

Youth Justice System. 
 
It is also of note that more children from the BAME community are within the Court cohort  

suggesting that children from an ethnic minority background maybe subject to more 
punitive approaches and outcomes by the Police, Crown Prosecution Service and 

Courts. It is particularly important that agencies pay attention to the Lammy Review which 
has been shared with partners across Salford via the YJS Partnership Board. 
 

Salford YJS have in a place a ‘Diversity Policy’ which was last updated in September 
2021. This document is currently being updated to provide further detail on how we 

address diverse needs (including ethnicity) to address disproportionality. 
 
 

Page 33



24 

 

 
 

Paying particular attention to cared for children (LAC), the YJS are keen to ensure that 

they are not over-represented in the youth justice system. Over the past year, cared for 

children have represented 16% of all interventions across the OOC and Court Disposals. 

The YJS have Joint Working Protocols in place with the relevant services across the 

wider CSC Department and this ensures that the joint working of cases is effective. The 

YJS Operational Managers are also present in relevant forums and likewise partners are 

invited to YJS meetings such as MARMMS to ensure that plans are coordinated. 

 

Nevertheless, given cared for children only make up 2% of the 10 – 17 population in 

Salford, there is clear evidence that they are over-represented within the YJS cohort. 

This needs addressing and the YJS is keen to consider how it can further reduce the 

unnecessary criminalisation of cared for children through contribution towards the local 

Community Parenting Strategy (that is currently under review) and by identifying a cared 

for children champion in the team.  

 
The over-representation of cared for children will be included as an agenda item 

at the next YJS Partnership Board with a view to agreeing this as a local KPI. 

 

Other priorities: 

Education:  

 

As of 25.05.22, 90 children were open to Salford YJS. Below is a summary of the current 

profile of these children along with ETE provision for both statutory school age of which 

there were 65 and post-16 children of which there were 25.  

 

31

7

15

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

LAC CIN CP

Interventions by CSC Status

Page 34



25 

 

 
 

Of the 65 children of school age, 47 (72%) as of 25.05.22 were in mainstream provision. 

Importantly all other children were also in education, in the main in specialist and 

alternative provision with 1 child in custody and 1 child being home schooled. As 

evidenced in this plan, the YJS has a dedicated ETE Worker who is line managed by an 

Operational Manager with a thematic lead for ETE. A strong partnership with education 

colleagues and links to operational and strategic forums ensures that all children open 

to Salford YJS have appropriate support in regards to education. 

 

 
 

For the post-16 group, 8 (32%) of the 25 young people were Not in Education, 

Employment or Training (NEET) as of 25.05.22. This resulted in an overall NEET figure 

of 8% for the YJS Cohort as of 25.05.22. Of the 8 NEET, they were and continue to be 

known to the YJS Career Connect Advisor for information, advice and guidance. Out of 

the 8 young people, there was 1 refusing to engage and the other 7 were being supported 

to find suitable EET destinations. 

47

7
9

1 1
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Mainstream

School
Special School PRU/Alternative

Provision
Custody Home Schooled

ETE Provision School Age Children

8

5

12

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

NEET Custody/Remand In Training/Employment

ETE Provision Post 16's

Page 35



26 

 

 

 
 

As the data above illustrates, 23 (26%) of the 90 young people as of 25.05.22 had an 

Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP). This demonstrates the level of complexity and 

the additional needs for children within the YJS Cohort. The priority for the YJS going 

forward is to ensure that we have timely access to all children’s EHCPs with a view that 

key recommendations can inform service delivery and support to children. The number 

of exclusions is also concerning and an area that the YJS ETE Worker will continue to 

address through support to children and education providers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prevention and Diversion:  

 

Salford YJS do not deliver a dedicated prevention service for children at risk of entering 

the youth justice system however, it recognises the importance of prevention and works 

with and alongside several other services and organisations in the delivery of prevention.  

23

6
8

1

29

12

3
6

2

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Current Interventions open to YJS - 90 young People
65 school Age & 25 post 16

77

2 1 4 3 1 2
0

10
20

30

40

50

60
70

80

90

Open Interventions by Ethnicity

Page 36



27 

 

 

As detailed within this plan, the YJS co-deliver the termly THRIVE Knife Crime Prevention 

Programme for children known to the YJS carrying weapons and an identified group of 

children at Clifton PRU.  

 

The YJS also deliver a joint project with the Youth Service called Choose to Change 

which is aimed at children aged between 10-12 at risk of entering the youth justice 

system. This voluntary intervention ensures that children have tailored plans and they 

are able to access YJS provision including access to CAMHS, speech and language 

support and educational psychology. Currently, the funding that provides two full-time 

workers is in place until March 23 however, the positive impact of this work is such that 

there are discussions about potentially mainstreaming this provision. Some further detail 

around the project and impact can be found below. 

 

Spotlight 

22-Making  Difference Salford Youth Service 27.5.2022.ppt
 

 

Furthermore, the YJS work closely alongside the Early Help Service and the Senior 

Manager overseeing this service is a YJS Partnership Board Member. Presently, the YJS 

Operational Manager with a thematic lead for prevention and diversion is in the process 

of agreeing a new joined up process and offer around prevention and diversion. This 

involves partners from Early Help and the Youth Service. Whilst this is yet to be finalised, 

the vision from a YJS perspective is that children requiring a targeted service (above the 

Universal offer) at risk of low-level offending and anti-social behaviour will be referred 

into the Youth Service for targeted intervention (under the prevention remit), and where 

a child has committed an offence that isn’t progressing to charge, that these are referred 

into the YJS (under the diversion remit). 

 

The Youth Service within Salford offer a range of targeted (1:1) and group-based 

interventions out in the community (detached youth work) and work alongside a number 

of schools. They are well integrated into the partnership model and it is envisaged that 

referrals would come from schools, the Community Safety Response Team, Early Help 

Practitioners and Social Workers within the wider CSC department. 

 

All children consenting to the YJS Diversion offer would receive a full assessment 

(recently revised template addressing risk to others, safety and wellbeing and 

desistance) and an intervention plan would be drawn up tailored to their individual needs 

and key desistance factors. A range of interventions would be delivered (including AIM3 

Assessment and Intervention) and this would typically be up to a maximum of 3 months.  

 

Once the above processes and referral pathways have been agreed, the joined-up offer 

will be promoted across the partnership to ensure that appropriate referrals are made 

and that children receive the right support at the right time. 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



28 

 

Serious Violence and Exploitation: 

 

In line with YJB Strategic Plan, Salford YJS prioritise serious youth violence including the 

aim to see a reduction in the number of children being exploited through involvement 

with county lines. Page 16 of this plan addresses the current challenges around serious 

youth violence in Salford and the partnership efforts to tackle this. Page 21 provides 

information on the number and type of violent offences committed by children in 21/22 

resulting in OOC and Court Disposals. The Head of Service has recently started to 

request ‘released under investigation’ data from a Police link to provide insight and 

scrutiny of any children RUI’d for violent offences. As of 20.5.22, 217 children were RUI’d 

with 61 (28%) of these for violent crimes. There is a recognition that this is too high and 

this will continue to be monitored going forward. 

 

In relation to child criminal exploitation (CCE) and child sexual exploitation (CSE), Salford 

YJS work closely with Salford Connect (formerly Complex Safeguarding) and work form 

a co-located office 1-day per week. A clear referral pathway is in place for any staff that 

have concerns about CCE and/or CSE and the Connect team provide case consultations 

for staff as required. 

 

YJS staff have received training in relation to the Modern-Day Slavery Act 2015 and 

processes around how to make National Referral Mechanism (NRM) referrals. Between 

April 21 – March 22 10 NRM referrals were submitted for children open to Salford YJS. 

Referrals were made by YJS staff and staff from partner agencies including Salford 

Connect and CSC colleagues demonstrating a partnership understanding of NRM 

processes. 

 

Nevertheless, Salford YJS is a progressive team and is keen to learn about and develop 

new and innovative practice. As such, Salford YJS is keen to learn more about the 

recently published County Lines Pathfinder and the work that is taking place in other 

areas to further enhance the work in Salford.  

 

Salford YJS support multi-agency efforts to prevent, radicalisation or extremist activity. 

One of the YJS Operational Managers has a thematic lead for ‘Prevent’ and is a regular 

attendee and the deputy chair of the monthly Channel Panel. A monthly ‘Prevent’  

newsletter presenting key headlines is circulated around the YJS team each month. 

Whilst some young people are discussed at the Channel Panel, none of them have been 

known to the YJS over the past 12 months. 

 

Constructive resettlement and the use of custody: 

 

Page 8 of this plan introduces the work undertaken by Salford YJS and the partnership 
in relation to Constructive Resettlement. This is a priority for Salford particularly given its 

challenges around high custody numbers. Salford YJS take the view that Constructive 
Resettlement is everyone’s responsibility however, it is overseen by one of the YJS 
Operational Managers who has a thematic lead for resettlement. 

 
Salford YJS are proud to have 2x City Wall Mentors (jointly funded with Manchester YJS) 

delivering direct support to children in custody and supporting successful resettlement 
plans underpinned by Constructive Resettlement.  

Page 38



29 

 

 
Page 19 sets out Salford YJS’ mission to reduce the use of custody and details the 
‘reducing the use of custody’ document that has been devised. 

 
In the period between April 21 – March 22, Salford had 13 remands up from 6 in the 

previous year. Salford received £119,829 remand budget for 2021/22 which is slight 
increase on the previous year (£116,656). In 2021/22 and taking account of the 
significant increase in remands (13), the total expenditure has been £292,974 which is 

an overspend of £176,318. 
 

The challenges of sourcing timely and suitable accommodation for children leaving 
custody is not unique to Salford however, we recognise that this is a priority and 
underpins the resettlement plan. Salford YJS chair a Resettlement Panel within one 

month of sentence/remand and covers the 7 Pathways to Resettlement therefore 
addressing accommodation needs. Representatives from the Local Authority responsible 

for the accommodation needs of the child are invited and play a key role in the child’s 
resettlement plan. 
 

The Head of Service is also a member of the GM Resettlement Consortium Strategic 
Group whereby Constructive Resettlement and local arrangements are discussed. 

 
Restorative justice and victims: 
 

Salford YJS place a significant importance on restorative justice (RJ) as one of its 
underpinning approaches and priorities. Along with other policies, the Operational 

Manager with a thematic lead for RJ (who also delivers Mediation Training to partner 
agencies) has recently revised the RJ Policy which sets out in detail both our approach 
and local practice. Within the YJS structure, there is a dedicated Victim Worker post who 

oversees all aspects of victim contact and RJ. There is also a part-time Reparation 
Worker that we commission Remedi to deliver and as detailed on page 16 we have been 

successful in obtaining funds to make this a full-time post for the next 12 months. 
 
Salford YJS recognise the importance of capturing the victim’s views and wishes in 

several aspects of its service delivery however, this is an area that requires further 
development. Going forward one of the ‘Participation Champions’ will be capturing the 

views from victims in regards to service feedback. 
 
Victim views are however strongly represented within other service areas i.e, they inform 

decision making at the OOC Panel and victim views and needs are fed into AssetPlus 
assessments to ensure that appropriate consideration is given to safety measures and 

the types of reparation that the child undertakes as part of their supervision. In addition, 
victims are invited to Referral Order Panels and their views are represented when this 
isn’t appropriate or possible. 

 
Going forward, there is a focus on the need to use the Restorative Inquiry to bring about 

more face-to-face RJ Conferences as we know from the evidence base that these can 
be powerful for both the victim and the child that committed the offence and importantly 
in supporting desistance. There is also a recognition that some victims need a more 

enhanced package of support recognising that many victims later go on to commit 
offences. This preventative approach could result in lesser crimes been committed whilst 

also ensuring that victims receive appropriate support. Salford YJS are currently 

Page 39



30 

 

exploring this with partners as an area of innovation however, discussions are in the early 
stages. 
 

The below attachment provides an overview of victim activity in 21/22 however, data 
collection is an area of development that the relatively new Victim Worker is addressing.  

 

Victim Info April 21 

to March 22.docx
 

 
9. National Standards  

 
The revised standards for children in the youth justice system 2019 are embedded within 

Salford YJS practice. The last National Standards audits were completed in 2019 and 
subsequent to this the previous Head of Service led on a National Standards Action Plan 
for 2020/21. This plan was reviewed by the Management Team and many of the actions 

were completed however, the latest review of this action plan was undertaken in January 
21. 

 
The new Head of Service is currently in the process of introducing a new process 
whereby the YJS will routinely self-assess against each of the five standards and capture 

actions in the form of an action plan relevant to each standard: 
 

1. Out of Court Disposals 
2. At Court 
3. In the Community (Court Disposals) 

4. In Secure Settings 
5. On Transition and Resettlement 

 
In the next YJS Partnership Board (July 22), members will be assigned a standard as 
closely linked to their role as possible and together with the designated YJS Operational 

Manager, they will be required to undertake a self-assessment of the YJS against that 
particular standard. There will be a requirement that one standard will be self-assessed 

every quarter (using a RAG rating system and narrative to support each area assessed) 
and that feedback will be presented to the Head of Service and YJS Partnership Board 
along with agreed actions and updates. Any key actions will be aligned with the Priority 

Action Plan to avoid the service overseeing multiple plans. This new process is to be 
rolled out throughout 22/23. 

 
Aside from the National Standards audits, Salford YJS have agreed a new quarterly audit 
cycle for 22/23. The first of these was completed in February 22 and involved the Head 

of Service and all four Operational Managers auditing four cases each (a total of 20) 
which represents approximately 25% of the overall Out of Court and Court Disposal 

caseload. A summary of the findings (using HMIP Inspection Standards and Ratings) can 
be found in the attachment below and key learning from this audit i.e. the need to improve 
planning has been captured within the Priority Action Plan which can be found in section 

11. 
 

Audit Ratings 

Summary Feb 22.docx
 

Page 40



31 

 

10. Challenges, Risks and Issues  

 
6 key service challenges, risks and issues have been identified. Below is an outline of 
these with actions that are being implemented to mitigate such risk. 

 
1. Recovery from Covid-19: 

 
Whilst the YJS has for the most part adopted a ‘business as usual’ approach throughout 
the Covid-19 Pandemic with minimal sickness, the changes in the way that we work using 

the ‘hybrid’ model have to some degree affected staff cohesion (particularly for new staff 
joining the service) with some staff affected more than others. There is the risk that future 

increases in Covid cases or other mass-spreading illness could impact on staff sickness. 
 
Actions to mitigate risk: 

 

 The Covid-19 risk assessment has been reviewed to provide staff and managers 

with greater flexibility (whilst still ensuring safe working practice) to attend the 
office as many days as required, whilst maintaining health and safety. 

 Covid-19 and other mass-spreading illness will continue to be monitored to 
accordingly through regular communication and updated risk assessments as 
deemed appropriate. 

 There is at least one Manager office-based each day to ensure appropriate 
support for staff. 

 Several team forums have been maintained/created i.e. monthly whole service 
meetings, case consultations and clinical consultations to create opportunities for 

the team to come together. 

 Group coaching has been rolled out across the Interventions Team and 
Management Team with plans to consider the roll out to the wider team. 

 Managers are planning to host a team Away Day in Summer/Autumn to bring the 
team together. 

 
2. Reduction in financial contributions: 
 

Whilst there are no immediate known risks to the YJS budget, any reductions would 
impact significantly on the resourcing of the service as presently there is no available  

underspend within the existing budget. 
 
Actions to mitigate risk: 

 

 The Head of Service has regular meetings with the Accountant to ensure that 

spending is managed in line with the budget. Financial updates are provided to 
the quarterly YJS Partnership Board for scrutiny. 

 The Head of Service works with partners in Salford and across GMCA to ensure 
that any funding opportunities can be pursued. 

 

3. Staffing: 
 

Lack of seconded Probation Officer - As mentioned within this plan, Salford YJS have 

been without a seconded Probation Officer since the latter part of 2021. There is a risk 
that a suitable candidate will not be made available to the YJS leaving a significant gap. 

This would affect the statutory obligation for the YJS to have a Probation Officer within 

Page 41



32 

 

its service and impact on the effective transition of young people from youth justice to 
adult services. 
 

Actions to mitigate risk: 

 

 The Head of Service is in regular communication with the Assistant Chief Officer 
of NPS who is an active YJS Partnership Board Member also. The YJS have been 
reassured that as soon as a suitable candidate becomes available, recruitment 

will progress with YJS involvement. 

 At present, monies for the 0.9 Probation Officer and 0.3 Support Officer role are 

being claimed to support other areas of the service. 

 The YJS Operational Manager with a thematic lead for youth to adulthood 

transitions is holding monthly meetings with NPS to ensure that any transition 
cases are managed in the interim. 
 

Longstanding Operational Manager due to retire – One of the four Operational 

Managers that has worked within Salford YJS for over 20 years is due to retire at the end 

of 2022. This will result in significant knowledge and experience being lost in the 
management team. 

 
Actions to mitigate risk: 

 

 Recruitment to the post will take place swiftly (involving children in the recruitment 
process) to ensure that prior to the Operational Manager leaving, there will be a 
handover period. 

 Recruitment will be advertised internally to support career progression for existing 
YJS staff. Providing successful appointment of an existing YJS staff member, this 

would support an easier and more timely transition and keep knowledge of Salford 
YJS within the management structure. 

 Staff being directly line managed by the Operational Manager are currently 
undertaking group coaching sessions and are being supported in terms of the 
imminent management change. 

 
Some knowledge, skill and experience gaps – On the whole, the Salford YJS have a 

longstanding, knowledgeable and experienced team however, for a number of staff 
(including new recruits) there are some knowledge, skill and experience gaps. 
 
Actions to mitigate risk: 

 

 Staff members are being supported through effective line management and 
through various approaches and leadership styles: open door policy, coaching, 
monthly supervision, appraisal and through day-to-day quality assurance and 

feedback.  

 Were necessary, HR processes are being followed in regards to poor 

performance. 
 

Longstanding YJS Nurse leaving – The longstanding YJS Nurse provided by the NHS 

is due to leave the service at the end of July 22. This will result in significant knowledge 
and experience being lost regarding the physical health offer. 

 
Actions to mitigate risk: 

Page 42



33 

 

 

 Recruitment is currently in progress for the new post-holder who will also be a 
Band 7. The YJS Operational Manager with a health thematic lead is taking part 

in the interview process. 

 The existing YJS Nurse is taking up another role with the NHS and will provide 

ongoing support to new post-holder to support the handover and transition. 
 
Lack of dedicated Data Analyst – Currently, the YJS have access to a Data Analyst 

and this is provided through the Data Analytics and Insight Team. The Analyst does not 
come from a youth justice background and lacks knowledge in this area. Admin support 

is being provided to the Head of Service in terms of data reporting however, they are not 
a trained data analyst and significant training is required.  

 
Actions to mitigate risk: 

 

 The Head of Service is currently in the process of reviewing the offer and is 
working with the Data Analytics and Insight Manager, Admin Manager and finance 

to reach a resolution and to ensure that sufficient data analysis is provided through 
a dedicated post. 

 
4. Inconsistent case recording: 
 

A recent audit and regular quality assurance by Managers have highlighted 
inconsistencies in the way that information is recorded on ChildView by both staff and 
Managers. 
 
Actions to mitigate risk: 

 

 A new process has been agreed in relation to how and where Managers record 
management oversight This has been implemented since February 22. 

 A simplified case recording checklist has been produced for staff which has been 
circulated and built into the revised Case Recording guidance. 

 Quality Assurance and audits will continue to take place to monitor case recording 
inconsistences and any feedback will be provided. 

 Plans are being made for one of the YJS Admin Workers to arrange monthly data 
drop-ins with staff to ensure that case recording is being recorded in line with 
agreed guidance. 
 

5. Embedding new practice guidance: 

 

All policies, procedures and guidance are currently under review to ensure that practice 
is current and any gaps are identified. Once finalised, these will need to be disseminated 

and embedded into practice. This presents a challenge inasmuch as some staff adapt 
better to new information/change quicker than others which could result in inconsistent 

practice in the short to medium term. 
 
Actions to mitigate risk: 

 

 Staff have been made aware in the Whole Service Meetings that policies are being 

updated. 

Page 43



34 

 

 Once the policies are updated (plan for end of June 22), they will be shared with 
staff and the YJS Partnership Board for consultation. 

 Once agreed, all staff and Managers will be allocated at least one Policy each to 

summarise and then a development session will be facilitated whereby everyone 
can provide the key points from each policy in the form of a PowerPoint 

presentation. This will embed key learning and ensure that all key points can be 
accessed at ease for day to day use. 

 
6. GMP focus on arrests: 

 

There is a current impetus within Greater Manchester Police (GMP) to arrest and hold 
more people committing offences to account. This increased focus and resource may 

indeed result in more children being brought to the attention of GM Youth Justice 
Services through the OOC and Court arena. The number of children currently under 
investigation (217 as of 20.05.22) presents a risk (from a capacity point of view) in the 

event that a high proportion result in referrals to the YJS or charge. 
 

Actions to mitigate risk: 
 

 YJS to work closely alongside GMP strategically at the YJS Partnership Board 

and other relevant forums and operationally to ensure that children are being dealt 
with proportionately to the seriousness of the offences and the individua l 

circumstances of the child. A balance to be achieved in terms of child first 
principles and management of risk and public protection. 

 The weekly OOC Panel to scrutinise decisions ensuring that children are diverted 

from Courts and back to the Police were appropriate. 

 The quarterly OOC Scrutiny Panel led at GM Head of Service level to further 

scrutinise decision making. 
 

11. Service Improvement Plan  

As already detailed within this plan, Salford YJS have devised a Priority Action Plan 
which is updated by the management team on a monthly basis and scrutinised by the 
YJS Partnership Board on a quarterly basis. Below is the latest version which was 

updated on 27th May 22. Salford YJS believe their vision and focus around future 
planning is strongly aligned to the YJB Strategic Plan 2021 – 2024. The vision for a child 

first youth justice system is strongly embedded within our culture as detailed in section 3 
of this plan. We believe in strong and resilient leadership that leads by example and 
invests in its staff to ensure that joined-up, innovative and evidence-based practice is at 

the heart of what we do. 
 

Salford YJS Priority 

Action Plan - Updated 27.5.22.docx
 

 
Defining success: 
 

Salford YJS define success as inspiring and empowering change in young people, for 
them to be the best that they can be (the YJS Vision). Furthermore, section 5 of this plan 

sets out the partnership approach and goals for continued service improvement ensuring: 
 

 Children are appropriately diverted from the YJS  

Page 44



35 

 

 That offending by children is prevented and the use of custody is reduced 

 The delivery of quality and effective services to children, parents/carers, victims 

and partner agencies  

 The improvement of practice and achievement of positive outcomes for children 
and young people  

 That children are safeguarded and risk to the public is minimised and managed 
effectively  

 That restorative justice, trauma-informed and child-first approaches underpin our 
practice  

 The unnecessary criminalisation of cared for children and other disproportionality 
represented group is avoided where at all possible  

 Improved Education, Training and Employment opportunities for children within 

the service  

 Improved physical health and wellbeing for all children entering YJS 

 That the service provides value for money.  
 

Learning from previous Inspections: 
 
The most recent inspection at Salford was an ETE Thematic undertaken by HMIP, 

OFSTED and Estyn in January 2022. The key recommendation from this was around the 
need to improve communication with some of the secondary mainstream provision and 

this has been incorporated into the Priority Action Plan.  
 
An SQS carried out in 2016 identified a number of improvements since the 2013 SQS: 

 
Key strengths:  

 

 The YOS had tenacious and resilient case managers and specialist workers who 

had ambitions for the children and young people.  

 Peer supervision was a useful opportunity for professional reflection, challenge 
and problem solving and added value to a number of cases.  

 Good efforts were consistently made to engage and sustain relationships with 
parents/carers.  

 Links with education placements were mostly strong and in a number of cases 
ensured a wrap-around level of support that ensured placements could be 

sustained.  
 
Areas requiring improvement included: 

 

 The assessment and management of all aspects of risk needs to be further 

developed and strengthened.  

 Management oversight should be streamlined and better targeted to develop the 

quality of assessment, planning and review.  

 The length and focus of pre-sentence reports should be reviewed.  

 More consistent communication with children’s social care services at a case level 

needs to be achieved. 
 

In the past 6-years since the last SQS, practice has evolved and developed in all of these 
areas including the delivery and implementation of AssetPlus training with regular 
refresher training (including ‘Less is More’ via YJB sector led improvement) for both staff 

and managers. A new process around management oversight has been agreed following 

Page 45



36 

 

the arrival of the new Head of Service, Pre-Sentence Reports have continued to be 
developed with feedback from Magistrates used to inform improvements and 
communication with CSC has improved with locally agreed protocols to assist in 

improved communication as a case level. 
 

In the monthly Managers Meeting, Managers look at a recently published HMIP 
Inspection report resulting in a ‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ rating to ensure that key learning 
is considered for implementation into local practice. 

 
Workforce development:  

 
Salford YJS have a Service Staff Progression Model which in line with all other policies 
is under review. This sets out the various progression routes for staff across all areas of 

the service. One example is that, annually all staff have the opportunity to apply for the 
Social Work apprenticeship scheme led by CSC if they meet the essential criteria. We 

provide a number of opportunities for staff to complete the Youth Justice Effective 
Practice Certificate and this year we are supporting one of the YJS Admin Workers to 
complete this as part of her career progression. In addition, one of the YJS Social 

Workers successfully supported two student Social Workers who have since secured 
roles in CSC. All staff have an annual appraisal which is reviewed at the 6-month stage. 

These address any professional development needs and these have all been completed 
for 22/23. 
 

A dedicated YJS Training Plan for 22/23 has been created in consultation with staff and 
is reviewed monthly in the Managers Meeting. 

 

Salford YJS Training 

Plan 22 - 23.xlsx
 

 
Board development:  

 
Section 5 of this plan in relation to Governance and Leadership provides detail regarding 

the Board development work that is already taking place. This includes a review of Board 
membership with new members invited, a review of the agenda, the identification of a 
vice Chair, the delivery of a Board Induction for all members and plans in the July 22 

Board to invite Board Members to become National Standards Champions (as detailed 
in section 9). 

 
A development going forward is to develop a Board Member Induction Booklet which will 
provide all relevant information regarding the YJS and their roles and responsibilities in 

supporting the YJS as Board Members. It is also important that regular attendance is 
achieved by all key partners going forward and this will continue to be monitored 

throughout 22/23. 
 

12. Evidence-based practice and innovation  

As evidenced within this plan, evidenced-based practice and innovation is at the heart of 

service delivery at Salford YJS. The multi-agency service provision is strong and is 
tailored to meet the needs of children, families and victims in Salford. 

 

Page 46



37 

 

Salford YJS are constantly adapting to ensure that service delivery is responsive. 
Enhanced data analysis will strengthen this further in the next 12 months. A recent 
example of responsivity is through the additional £18,000 granted through the Violence 

Reduction Unit (linked to the Youth Crime Spending Plan) to enhance reparation and 
restorative approaches for children and victims Salford. 

 
Practice at Salford YJS is underpinned by a strong evidence base. Strengths-based, 
trauma-informed and child first approaches are central to this alongside the use of 

restorative approaches. Salford YJS also use the Signs of Safety model within several 
areas of practice including MARMMs. The wider CSC department are currently delivering 

training in relation to the Family Partnership Model (FPM) with a view that this will be 
embedded as a consistent approach across all leaders and frontline staff in CSC. This is 
included within the YJS Training Plan 22/23 with a view that by Spring of 2023, all 

Managers and Practitioners will be trained. Some aspects of FPM are already embedded 
into YJS practice such as the supervision process however, this is an area for further 

development. This plan has already addressed the significant work that is undertaken 
around children in custody and the use of Constructive Resettlement and with a recently 
revised policy and some new tools for staff to use, this will continue to be developed over 

the next 12 months. 
 

A key focus over the next 12 months is to implement the revised Diversity Policy (which 
includes a menu of services and resources for identified disproportionate groups in the 
YJS) to ensure that over-represented children i.e. cared for children, receive access to 

appropriate support to aid sustainable desistance. Salford YJS is also keen to learn more 
about the recently published County Lines Pathfinder and the work that is taking place in 

other areas to further enhance the work in Salford. 
 

13. Looking Forward 

 

The YJS Priority Action Plan detailed in section 11 sets out the current priorities in more 
detail and addresses the risks covered in section 10 of this plan. This plan is reviewed 

on a monthly basis and is scrutinised by the YJS Partnership Board to ensure priorities 
are delivered against. The below sets out the key areas of focus for the next 12 months 
some of which are linked to the 3 service objectives for 22/23 detailed on page 4. 

 

 To ensure that the fundamental aspects of our service delivery (Assessment, 

Planning, Implementation & Delivery and Review) are undertaken to the highest 
possible standard with a ‘Golden Thread’ throughout. Evidence-based practice 
(including RJ and strength-based approaches) to underpin the delivery of this 

work. 
 

 To continue to improve performance (and analysis of data and performance) in 
relation to the 3 National KPIs particularly in relation to reducing the use of 

custody. To use local reoffending tracking data to assess this in ‘real time’  and to 
finalise the prevention and diversion offer to support further reductions in FTEs. 
 

 To further influence practice to reduce serious youth violence and exploitation 
giving consideration to the County Lines Pathfinder. 

 

 To work towards ensuring that more children have access to suitable ETE. 

 

Page 47



38 

 

 To further develop the participation of children, families and victims in line with our 
newly devised Participation Strategy. 
 

 To further develop the Diversity Policy to ensure that it fully addresses over-
representation (including reducing the unnecessary criminalisation of cared for 

children) and how as a service we are meeting the needs of these groups. 
 

 To ensure that all new policies and guidance are disseminated and embedded 
into practice. 
 

 To ensure that all posts are filled (involving children in recruitment processes) in 
particular the Seconded Probation Officer, replacement Nurse and Operational 

Manager. 
 

 To deliver a whole service Development Day to support service development, staff 

cohesion and to undertake a review of the vision and mission statement. 
 

 To develop Salford’s Adolescent Strategy collectively with partners. 
 

 

14. Sign Off, Submission and Approval 

Chair of YJS Board  
 

Charlotte Ramsden 
 

Signature 
 

 
 

 

Date 
 

 
29.06.22 

 
 

15. Appendix 1  

 

 

YJS Partnership 

Board Attendance 2021.xlsx

YJS Partnership 

Board Attendance 2022.xlsx

YJS Partnership 

Board Membership (updated May 22).docx
 

 
 

 
Appendix 2 – Service Structure Chart  

 

Salford YJS Staffing 

Structure May 22.docx

YJS Staff 

Characteristics May 22.docx
 

  

Page 48



39 

 

Common youth justice terms  
Please add any locally used terminology  

ACE Adverse childhood experience. Events in 
the child’s life that can have negative, 

long lasting impact on the child’s health, 
and life choices  

AIM 2 and 3  Assessment, intervention and moving 
on, an assessment tool and framework 
for children who have instigated harmful 

sexual behaviour 

ASB Anti social behaviour 
AssetPlus  Assessment tool to be used for children 

who have been involved in offending 
behaviour  

CAMHS Child and adolescent mental health 
services 

CCE Child Criminal exploitation, where a child 
is forced, through threats of violence, or 

manipulated to take part in criminal 
activity 

Children We define a child as anyone who has not 
yet reached their 18th birthday. This is in 

line with the United Nations Convention 
on the Rights of the Child and civil 
legislation in England and Wales. The 

fact that a child has reached 16 years of 
age, is living independently or is in 

further education, is a member of the 
armed forces, is in hospital or in custody 
in the secure estate, does not change 

their status or entitlements to services or 
protection. 

Child First  A system wide approach to working with 
children in the youth justice system. 

There are four tenants to this approach, 
it should be: developmentally informed, 

strength based, promote participation, 
and encourage diversion  

Child looked-after Child Looked After, where a child is 
looked after by the local authority  

CME Child Missing Education 

Constructive resettlement  The principle of encouraging and 
supporting a child’s positive identity 
development from pro-offending to pro-

social 

Contextual safeguarding An approach to safeguarding children 
which considers the wider community 
and peer influences on a child’s safety 

Community resolution Community resolution, an informal 
disposal, administered by the police, for 

Page 49



40 

 

low level offending where there has been 
an admission of guilt  

EHCP Education and health care plan, a plan 
outlining the education, health and social 

care needs of a child with additional 
needs  

ETE Education, training or employment 
EHE Electively home educated, children who 

are formally recorded as being educated 
at home and do not attend school  

EOTAS Education other than at school, children 
who receive their education away from a 

mainstream school setting  
FTE First Time Entrant. A child who receives 

a statutory criminal justice outcome for 
the first time (youth caution, youth 

conditional caution, or court disposal  
HMIP  Her Majesty Inspectorate of Probation. 

An independent arms-length body who 
inspect Youth Justice services and 

probation services  
HSB  Harmful sexual behaviour, 

developmentally inappropriate sexual 
behaviour by children, which is harmful 
to another child or adult, or themselves  

FGC Family Group Conferencing 

JAC Junior Attendance Centre 

MAPPA  Multi agency public protection 
arrangements 

MARMM Multi Agency Risk Management Meeting 
led by the YJS 

MFH  Missing from Home  

NRM  National Referral Mechanism. The 
national framework for identifying and 
referring potential victims of modern 

slavery in order to gain help to support 
and protect them  

OOCD Out-of-court disposal. All recorded 
disposals where a crime is recorded, an 

outcome delivered but the matter is not 
sent to court  

Outcome 22/21  An informal disposal, available where the 
child does not admit the offence, but they 

undertake intervention to build strengths 
to minimise the possibility of further 

offending  
Over-represented children Appearing in higher numbers than the 

local or national average 
RHI  Return home Interviews. These are 

interviews completed after a child has 
been reported missing 

Page 50



41 

 

SLCN Speech, Language and communication 
needs 

STC Secure training centre  
SCH Secure children’s home 

Young adult We define a young adult as someone 

who is 18 or over. For example, when a 
young adult is transferring to the adult 
probation service. 

YJS Youth Justice Service. This is now the 

preferred title for services working with 
children in the youth justice system. This 
reflects the move to a child first approach  

YOI Young offender institution  

 

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Salford Youth Justice Service

Annual Plan 22/23

P
age 53



What is the 
Annual Youth 
Justice Plan?

• It sets out the  strategic vision & priorities for the year ahead including how 
the YJS will address key risks/challenges

• It provides an overview of the governance & leadership of the service and 
how the service is resourced including partnership arrangements

• It provides an overview of annual performance against National and local 
Key Performance Indicators

• It sets out how the YJS budget will be spent (including plans around 
evidence-based practice & innovation)

• It is submitted to the Youth Justice Board (YJB) for England & Wales and the 
YJB Core Grant (£624k for 22/23) is contingent on this

• Members of the YJS Partnership Board contributed to the contents of the 
Plan

• The Plan was signed off and approved by the Strategic Director – People and 
Chair of the YJS Partnership Board, Charlotte Ramsden 

P
age 54



The YJS Annual 
Plan - Contents 
and YJB Ratings

1. Introduction, vision and strategy - Outstanding

2. Local context - Outstanding

3. Child first - Outstanding

4. Voice of the child - Outstanding

5. Governance, leadership and partnership arrangements - Outstanding

6. Resources and services - Outstanding

7. Progress on previous plan - Outstanding

8. Performance and priorities - Outstanding

9. National standards - Outstanding

10. Challenges, risks and issues - Outstanding

11. Service improvement plan - Outstanding

12. Evidence-based practice and innovation - Good

13. Looking forward – Outstanding

✓ This puts us in a strong position for our pending HMIP Inspection!

Our Plan was rated ‘Outstanding’

P
age 55



Priorities for 
22/23

• To ensure that the fundamental aspects of our service delivery 
(Assessment, Planning, Implementation & Delivery and Review) are 
undertaken to the highest possible standard with a ‘Golden Thread’ 
throughout. Evidence-based practice (including RJ and strength-based 
approaches) to underpin the delivery of this work.

• To continue to improve performance (and analysis of data and 
performance) in relation to the 3 National KPIs particularly in relation to 
reducing the use of custody. To use local reoffending tracking data to 
assess this in ‘real time’ and to finalise the prevention and diversion 
offer to support further reductions in FTEs.

• To further influence practice to reduce serious youth violence and 
exploitation giving consideration to the County Lines Pathfinder.

• To work towards ensuring that more children have access to suitable 
ETE.

• To further develop the participation of children, families and victims in 
line with our newly devised Participation Strategy.

P
age 56



Priorities for 
22/23

• To further develop the Diversity Policy to ensure that it fully addresses over-
representation (including reducing the unnecessary criminalisation of cared 
for children) and how as a service we are meeting the needs of these groups.

• To ensure that all new policies and guidance are disseminated and embedded 
into practice.

• To ensure that all posts are filled (involving children in recruitment processes) 
in particular the Seconded Probation Officer, replacement Nurse and 
Operational Manager.

• To deliver a whole service Development Day to support service development, 
staff cohesion and to undertake a review of the vision and mission statement.

• To develop Salford’s Adolescent Strategy collectively with partners.

P
age 57



Questions?

P
age 58



 1 

Part 2: Closed to the Public – Item No. 

 

REPORT OF THE STRATEGIC DIRECTOR FOR PEOPLE 

 

TO LEAD MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S SERVICES 

ON 2 SEPTEMBER 2022

 

CHILDREN’S SERVICES REVENUE MONITORING 2022/23 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

It is recommended that the Lead Member:- 

 

 Note the current position and forecasted position to year end for the Service 

Group’s revenue and capital budget. 
 

 Note further measures to bring forecast expenditure back in line with the budget.  

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

(a) Revenue budget 

The service group’s budget for 2022/23 is £102.431m. The forecast expenditure 

for the year is £106.816m giving a forecast adverse variation of £4.385m, of 
which £0.200m is the pressure outside the integrated fund. 
 

(b) Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 

The DSG allocation for central services in 2022/23 is £53.053m and the forecast 

expenditure for the year is £51.711m, a forecast positive variation of £1.342m. 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

 SAP general ledger and BI reports 

 Various documents held on the accountancy team 

 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



 2 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  

 Budget report 2022 to 2023 (https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/397621/budget-

report-2022-23.pdf) 

 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
(https://sccdemocracy.salford.gov.uk/documents/s21433/06ii%20Appx%20A%

20MTFS%202020-23.pdf) 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: High 

Key risks to budgetary control risk are identified in this report. 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: not applicable 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 

This report concerns key aspects of the Council’s revenue finances and has been 
produced by the Finance division. 

 

CONTACT OFFICERS:  

Alex Archer    0161 778 0498 alex.archer@salford.gov.uk 

Natalie Birchall  0161 793 2316 natalie.birchall@salford.gov.uk 

 
 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All 
  

Page 60

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/397621/budget-report-2022-23.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/397621/budget-report-2022-23.pdf
https://sccdemocracy.salford.gov.uk/documents/s21433/06ii%20Appx%20A%20MTFS%202020-23.pdf
https://sccdemocracy.salford.gov.uk/documents/s21433/06ii%20Appx%20A%20MTFS%202020-23.pdf
mailto:alex.archer@salford.gov.uk
mailto:natalie.birchall@salford.gov.uk


 3 

DETAILS: 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This report is set out in three main sections.  

 Section 2 sets out the forecast year end position of the 2022/23 revenue 

budget and integrated fund, highlighting any risks/ sensitivities  

 Section 3 sets out the forecast year end position of the Dedicated Schools 
Grant (DSG), highlighting any risks/ sensitivities. 

2 Revenue budget 2022/23 

2.1 The current position and year end forecast for the revenue budget (also referred 
to as core budget) is set out in Table A overleaf. Agreed savings have been built 
into the budget figures reported. Expenditure data reflects actual expenditure 

incurred up to 30 June 2022. 

As previously reported, the majority of children’s expenditure is incurred via joint 

commissioning arrangements through the integrated fund. A risk share 
agreement provides that any overspend at year-end will be shared by the 
partners in proportion to their contributions to the fund.  

The adverse variance in table A therefore includes an estimate of the council’s 
share of the financial pressures within the fund. These mainly relate to the cost 

of children looked after  and SEN transport. Based upon the current forecast, the 
council’s share of this budget pressure is estimated to be £2.845m.  

Work is ongoing to manage these pressures within the service and this will 

continue to be closely monitored. 

The remaining non-integrated fund element of the children’s service group 

currently has a budget pressure of £0.200m, which is largely due to a forecast 
underachievement of external income. 

2.2 The position reflects a reduction in the pressures in the Child Looked After budget 

based on the work undertaken by the service to reduce the number of children in 
outside placements from their in-year peak in 21/22 of 45 back down to 35 at the 

end of May 2022. The position also reflects the increasing pressures on the SEN 
Transport budget highlighted above. There remains a small underlying pressure 
on the integrated fund of available funding of circa £0.500m.  

 

 

 

 

Page 61



 4 

Table A – revenue budget forecast 2022/23 

Service (core) Annual 
budget 

£m 

Forecast 
outturn 

£m 

Forecast 
variance 

£m 

Integrated 
fund (in) 

£m 

 

Integrated 
fund (out) 

£m 

Risk  

Leadership 

and 

Safeguarding 

2.342 2.342 - - - ● Green 

Specialist 

Services 

42.865 44.365 (1.500) (1.500) - ● Red 

 

SEN, Access, 

and Inclusion 

28.833 31.333 (2.500) (2.300) (0.200) ● Red 

 

Education and 

Helping 

Families 

28.341 28.776 (0.385) (0.385) - ● Red 

 

Total 102.381 106.816 (4.385) (4.185) (0.200) ● Red 

 

3 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 2022/23 

3.1 The year-end forecast for the centrally held DSG budgets is set out in Table B 

below. 

3.2 The current position within the Non Delegated Schools Budget for 2022/23 is a 

projected underspend of £1.342m. This is in line with management plan forecast 
submitted to the DfE as part of the Safety Valve funding agreement and will be 
used to reduce the current deficit balance brought forward from 2021/22 of 

£15.153m. 

Table B – DSG forecast 2022/23 

Funding block (DSG) 2022/23 

allocation                                         

£m 

Forecast 

outturn 

£m 

Forecast 

variance 

£m 

Risk 

High Needs 33.624 31.882 1.742 ● Green 

Early Years 14.008 14.008 - ● Green  

Schools / Central 5.421 5.821 (0.400) ● Red 

 
Total 53.053 51.711 1.342 ● Green  

Page 62



 5 

4 Issues / risks 

4.1 The cost pressures identified within this report, particularly around SEN Transport 
will continue to be closely monitored. 

5 Recommendations 

5.1 Lead Member is requested to note the current position and forecast position for 

2022/23, for the service group’s revenue budget (including the Children’s element 
of the integrated fund), and the Dedicated Schools Grant budget. 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Children’s Scrutiny Panel  

Work Programme and Recommendations 2022-23 

 

 

SCHEDULE OF COMMITTEE DATES & AGENDA ITEMS 
 

Date Topic/Action 

 

Responsible officer (s) 

New Municipal year 2022 
 

8th June 2022  Service Group Priorities and Business planning 

  

 

 

13th July 2022 
 

 Transition from KS2-KS3 Victoria Ross 

14th September 2022 

 

 Youth Justice  

 Budget Monitoring  

Lee Matthews 

Alex Archer 
 

12th October 2022 
 

 Secondary School improvement – partnership working with Multi Academy 

Trusts (Spotlight Review  - Part 1)  

 Annual Report from Community Parenting Board 

Cathy Starbuck 
 

Rebekah Tucker  

9th November 2022 
 

  Domestic Abuse 

 Route 29 update 

Debbie Blackburn 
Sayma Khan 

14th December 2022 
 

 Budget Monitoring 

 Education Performance Data 

Alex Archer 
Cathy Starbuck 

11th January 2023 

 

 Support for young carers 

 Family Hub Developments 

Debbie Blackburn  

Rebecca Bibby  

8th February 2023 

 

 Secondary School improvement – partnership working with Multi Academy 

Trusts (Spotlight Review - Part 2) 

 Improving attendance 

Cathy Starbuck/Sue Johnson 

Cathy Starbuck 

8th March 2023 

 
 Bridge Transformation Update 

 Residential system 

 Budget Monitoring  

Zoe Fearon/Becky Bibby 

Zoe Fearon 
Alex Archer 

12th April 2023 
 

 Social Care Workforce Strategy – April

 Thrive  Plan - Supporting Emotional well being 

Zoe Fearon 
Debbie Blackburn 

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 6



                                     

Last updated 27.05.22 2 

Regular monitoring reports  

 Service Group Budgets (quarterly –Alex Archer) 
 
 

 

                                                         Topics in abeyance  

  
Reviews  

  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER 

Title of Report  Date of submissions and responses Responsible Lead Member/officer 

 
Portfolio of the Board: 

 
Membership – 12 Members (9 Lab 2 Con 1 Lib Dem) 

 Children in Need 

 Integrated Looked after Children 

 Early Intervention 

 Children’s Safeguarding 

 Integrated Youth Support  

 Youth Justice Service 

 Complex Needs Inclusion 

 Complex Needs SEN 

 School Provider Arm 

 Starting Life Well 

 Skills and Work 

 Primary School Place Planning programmes 

 Partnerships and Commissioning  

 To scrutinise the council’s business plan and budget in 

this functional area. 

  

1. Cllr A Brocklehurst (Chair) 

2. Cllr J Brooks (Vice-Chair) 
3. Cllr A Kealey 
4. Cllr A Leitner 

5. Cllr M Morris 
6. Cllr L Nelson 
7. Cllr M Pevitt 

8. Cllr N Reynolds 
9. Cllr J Rowland 
10.  Cllr M Wade 

11.  Cllr A Warren 
12.  Vacancy (Labour) 

 

Voting representatives: 

 One Church of England Diocesan 
representative – Dr Keith Archer 

 One Roman Catholic Diocesan 
representative – vacant 

 One representative from the Free 
Churches – vacant 

 One representative from the 

Jewish faith – Alex Klein 

  Parent-governor representative: 
 

o Zoe Brown 
 

Co-opted Members – non voting  
Ms Jacqui Morrissey 

Mrs Judith Elderkin 

Lead member: Councillor Jim Cammell (Exec Support Cllr Teresa Pepper)  
Key Officers: Charlotte Ramsden, Cathy Starbuck, Zoe Fearon, Debbie Blackburn,  
                         Rebecca Bibby)  

 

P
age 66


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting held on Wednesday, 13th July 2022
	4 Salford Youth Justice Plan 2022-23
	Salford YJ Plan 2022-23
	YJ Plan for Scrutiny

	5 Children's Services Revenue Monitoring 2022/23
	6 CSP Work Programme 2022/23

